

**Morning Hearings with Major Groups and other Stakeholders**  
Twelfth Session of the Open Working Group on Sustainable Development Goals  
**16-20 June, 2014**

## **COMPILATION OF AMENDMENTS TO GOALS AND TARGETS**

### **Table of Contents**

Introduction .....	2
Proposed goal 1.....	6
Proposed goal 2.....	8
Proposed goal 3.....	11
Proposed goal 4.....	14
Proposed goal 5.....	17
Proposed goal 6.....	19
Proposed goal 7.....	21
Proposed goal 8.....	23
Proposed goal 9.....	27
Proposed goal 10.....	29
Proposed goal 11.....	33
Proposed goal 12.....	35
Proposed goal 13.....	38
Proposed goal 14.....	40
Proposed goal 15.....	43
Proposed goal 16.....	45
Proposed goal 17.....	48

## Introduction

*On behalf of the Women's Major Group, the Children and Youth Major Group, the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group and the NGOs Major Group*

Amendments to text:

- Add section headings as follows:
  - Section 1:** Introduction to what the document and agreement is about and how it is organized (e.g., into goals, targets, indicators and MOIs);
  - Section 2:** What is sustainable development and why it is important;
  - Section 3:** Various issues and priorities (e.g., the existing paragraphs on poverty, rights, social and economic development and environmental protection, etc);
  - Section 4:** the Rio principles and conference outcome documents;
  - Section 5:** Existing agreements on financing and means of implementation;
  - Section 6:** Specific country applications and cultural contexts;
  - Section 7:** How the world's people and various stakeholders can participate in the implementation of the SDGs.
- Add to paragraph 2:

We recognize that **a universal, rights-based and people-centered framework that realizes poverty eradication, changing unsustainable and promoting sustainable patterns of consumption and production and protecting and managing the natural resource base for economic and social development by enabling an economy that operates within planetary boundaries, and leads to ending inequality and upholding and advancing human rights for all** are the overarching objectives of and essential requirements for sustainable development.
- Add to paragraph 3:

**We recall as well our commitments in the outcomes of all the major United Nations conferences and summits in the economic, social and environmental fields, including the United Nations Millennium Declaration, the 2005 World Summit Outcome, the Monterrey Consensus of the International Conference on Financing for Development, the Doha Declaration on Financing for Development: outcome document of the Follow-up International Conference on Financing for Development to Review the Implementation of the Monterrey Consensus, the outcome document of the High-level Plenary Meeting of the General Assembly on the Millennium Development Goals, the Programme of Action of the International Conference on Population and Development, the key actions for the further implementation of the Programme of Action of the International Conference on Population, the Dakar Framework for Action and the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action and their subsequent reviews.**
- Add to paragraph 4 (or 5):

We further reaffirm the importance of freedom, peace and security, respect for all human rights, including the right to development and the right to an adequate standard of living, including the right to food, **education**, the rule of law, **protection from violence**, good governance, gender equality, women **and girl's** empowerment and the overall commitment to just and democratic societies for development. **We recognize the urgent need to halt the race to the bottom created by our global trade, investment and migration conditions.** We reaffirm the **importance centrality** of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, as well as

other international instruments relating to human rights and international law, **including the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, the Convention on the Rights of the Child, the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples and the International Convention of the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families, which should be the basis of and mainstreamed across the SDGs framework. We emphasize the responsibilities of all States, in conformity with the Charter of the United Nations, to respect, protect and promote human rights and fundamental freedoms for all, without distinction of any kind as to race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth, disability, age, sexual orientation, gender identify, migration status, or any other status. We reaffirm that climate change is one of the greatest challenges of our time, and we express profound alarm that emissions of greenhouse gases continue to rise globally.[...] In this regard we emphasize that adaptation to climate change represents an immediate and urgent global priority. Further, we underscore that the global nature of climate change calls for the widest possible cooperation by all countries and their participation in an effective and appropriate international response, with a view to accelerating the reduction of global greenhouse gas emissions.**

- Add to paragraph 5:  
**We further recognize that the needs of adolescents and young people must be integrated across all dimensions of sustainable development. Children, Adolescents and youth should be involved in the development, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of programs that impact their lives.**
- Changes to paragraph 6:  
 We recognize that people are at the centre of sustainable development and, in this regard, we strive for a world that is just, equitable and inclusive, and we commit to work together to ~~promote~~ **transform the current growth-based development model by committing to sustained integrating sustainable and inclusive economic growth development, equitable benefit sharing, social development and environmental protection within planetary boundaries** and thereby to benefit all.
- Add to paragraph 6:  
**We recognize that gender equality, the human rights of women and girls, and their effective participation are important for effective action on all aspects of sustainable development, that must be guaranteed including through the repeal of discriminatory laws and the removal of formal barriers, ensuring equal access to justice and legal support, the reform of institutions to ensure competence and capacity for gender mainstreaming and the development and adoption of innovative and special approaches to address informal, harmful practices that act as barriers to gender equality. We reaffirm our commitments to ensure women's equal rights, access and opportunities for participation and leadership in the economy, society and political decision-making. In addition to a stand-alone goal, the human rights and empowerment of women and girls and gender equality must be mainstreamed across the SDGs framework and its monitoring.**  
**The participation of citizens, including children and youth, in participatory processes to design, monitor and implement the post-2015 agenda at the national level will be essential**

to the achievement of long-term, sustainable gains, both for societies and communities as a whole, as well as specifically for youth.

We agree to develop a comprehensive framework and process for implementing the SDGs, Targets and Indicators that focuses on achieving all of the other sustainable development agreements at the same time. We are linking each of the Goals, Targets and Indicators with the international agreements dealing with the same issue areas, so that we can tell the world's people what is expected of everyone. The SDGs can provide a foundation for further developing and implementing local and national sustainability strategies. A global process is being established to ensure they are used to help in achieving the Targets and Goals. A full reporting system will be established under the High Level Political Forum to ensure that the Post 2015 agenda is implemented everywhere in a fully inclusive, coherent and integrated manner.

- Add to paragraph 8:  
We reaffirm all the principles of the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, including, inter alia, the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities, as set out in principle 7 thereof; **and thus commit to using the Rio Principles as the fundamental basis for making a rapid transition to complete sustainability**

#### Additional interventions

##### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

Amendments to text: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis paragraph by paragraph

##### ***On behalf of the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group***

Amendments to text:

- Paragraph 4: inclusion of reference to International Labour Standards

##### ***On behalf of the Stakeholder Group on Ageing***

Amendments to text:

- Paragraph 3: inclusion of the Political Declaration and Madrid International Plan of Action of the 2nd World Assembly on Ageing
- Paragraph 5: "We recognize that people **of all ages and abilities** are at the centre of sustainable development and, in this regard, we strive for a world that is just, equitable and inclusive, and we commit to work together to promote sustained and inclusive economic growth, social development and environmental protection and thereby to benefit all, **particularly the poor, the marginalized and people in vulnerable situations , including indigenous peoples, women, minorities, migrants, persons with disabilities, older persons, children and youth.**

##### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

Amendments to text:

- Paragraph 1: "We recognize that, in addition to our separate responsibilities to our individual societies, we have a collective responsibility to uphold the principles of human dignity, equality and equity at the global level."
- Paragraph 3: "We reaffirm that climate change is one of the greatest challenges of our time, and we express profound alarm that emissions of greenhouse gases continue to rise globally.[...] In this regard we emphasize that adaptation to climate change represents an immediate and urgent global priority. [Further,] we underscore that the global nature of climate change calls for the widest possible cooperation by all countries and their participation in an effective and appropriate international response, with a view to accelerating the reduction of global greenhouse gas emissions/"
- Paragraph 8: "In this regard, we reaffirm the need to achieve social equity and protection of the environment, while enhancing gender equality, women's empowerment and equal opportunities for all, and the protection, survival and development of children to their full potential, including through

education”

- Paragraph 9: Add “peace” to last sentence

***On behalf of Save the Children***

Amendments to text:

- The criterion that **no target will be considered met until met for all** social and economic groups;
- A strong commitment to invest in **quality and timely disaggregated data** for all groups; and
- A recognition of the value of setting **national interim equity targets** to reduce gaps in outcomes between more and less advantaged groups in society.

***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Paragraph 1: Add “reduction of inequality” to first sentence
- Paragraph 9: Add “based on the principles of equality and mutual benefit” to last sentence
- Paragraph 10: Add “equitable” before “effective”; add “and reducing inequality at the end of last sentence

***On behalf of the Psychology Coalition at the UN***

Amendments to text:

- Paragraph 4: inclusion of reference to physical and mental health and wellbeing

## **Proposed goal 1.**

### End poverty in all its forms everywhere

*On behalf of the Major Group for Children and Youth, the Women's Major Group, Islamic Relief Worldwide, Christian Aid, WECF International, the Disaster and Risk Reduction Cluster, African Monitor, and the Africa CSO Working Group on Post 2015*

Amendments to targets:

- 1.1 by **2020**, eradicate extreme poverty by bringing the number of people living on less than \$1.25 a day **below the poverty lines to zero, with a focus on structural barriers faced by women and the most marginalized groups**
- 1.3 by **2020**, fully implement nationally appropriate **universal** social protection measures including **setting floors for public care services, work, housing, education, water and sanitation and health care**, with a focus on coverage of the poor, **including** the most marginalized **groups** and people in vulnerable situations
- 1.4 by 2030 achieve equal access to **safe, non-discriminatory**, productive employment, **livelihoods** and decent work for all, **including with a particular focus on** the poor, persons with disabilities, and other people in vulnerable situations ~~as well as~~ **including** women and young people
- 1.5 by 2030 ensure **equal economic and** development opportunities for all men and women, including secure rights to ~~own~~ land, property and other productive resources, and access to financial services, with particular focus on the poor, the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations
- 1.6 ~~by 2030 strengthen early warning and disaster risk reduction systems and related capacities with the aim of building resilience and protecting the poor and those in vulnerable situations from disasters and shocks, including climate-related extreme events~~ **by 2030 reduce losses for and build the resilience of poor and vulnerable people to disasters and shocks**
- 1.7 pursue sustained **sustainable, equitable** and inclusive economic ~~growth~~ **development** as a key enabler for achieving poverty eradication

#### **Additional interventions**

##### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

##### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 1.3 by 2030, ~~fully~~ implement nationally appropriate **and sustainable** social protection ~~measures~~ **systems** including floors, ~~with a focus on coverage of the poor, the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations~~
  - 1.4 by 2030 achieve equal access to **education**, productive employment and decent work for all, including the poor, persons with disabilities, and other people in vulnerable situations as well as women and young peoplefurther amendments: 1.4 1.5 and 1.7– see goal 8; 1.8 – see goal 15

##### ***On behalf of the Science and Technology Major Group***

- Amendment to target:
  - 1.7 Pursue **socially and environmentally sustainable** and inclusive economic growth as a key enabler for achieving poverty eradication

#### ***On behalf of the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group***

- Amendment to targets:  
1.3 by 2030, fully implement nationally appropriate **designed** social protection measures, **in particular social protection including floors for all needed, with a including** focus on ~~coverage of the poor, the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations~~

#### ***On behalf of the Indigenous Peoples Major Group***

- Amendment to targets:  
1.5 by 2030 ensure development opportunities for all men and women, including secure **individual and collective** rights to ~~own~~ land, property and other productive resources, and access to financial services, with particular focus on the poor, the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations

#### ***On behalf of the Stakeholder Group on Ageing***

- Amendment to targets:  
1.3 by 2030 fully implement nationally appropriate social protection ~~measures, including~~ floors with a ~~focus on coverage of the poor and most marginalised and people in vulnerable situations~~ **universal coverage**  
1.4 by 2020 achieve equal access to productive employment and decent work for all, including the poor, persons with disabilities, **older persons** and other people in vulnerable situations as well as women and young people

#### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

#### ***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Target to be added:
  - Reduce by x% deaths and economic losses related to disasters
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

#### ***On behalf of the Child Fund Alliance, Plan, Unicef, SOS Children's Villages, Save the Children, World Vision and SRSB on Violence against Children***

- Amendment to target:  
1.3 by 2030, fully implement **universal**, nationally appropriate social protection measures including floors, with a focus on coverage of the poor, **children**, the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations

#### ***On behalf of Save the Children***

- Amendment to target:  
1.1 by **2020**, eradicate extreme poverty by bringing the number of people living ~~on less than \$1.25~~ **\$2.00** a day to zero

#### ***On behalf of the Psychology Coalition at the UN***

- Amendment to target:  
1.6 by 2030 strengthen early warning and disaster risk reduction systems and related capacities with the aim of building **infrastructural and psychosocial** resilience

## **Proposed goal 2.**

End hunger, achieve food security and adequate nutrition for all, and promote sustainable agriculture

*On behalf of the NGOs Major Group, the Women's Major Group, the Indigenous Peoples Major Group, the Major Group for Children and Youth and the Food and Agriculture Cluster of the NGO Major Group*

Rewording of goal to: End hunger, achieve food security and adequate nutrition for all, and ~~promote~~ **shift** sustainable agriculture

Amendments to targets:

- 2.1 end hunger and ensure that all people have access to adequate, safe, affordable, nutritious, **diverse and GMO-free** food all year round by **2020, and achieve food sovereignty and the progressive realization of the right to food**
- 2.4 by 2030 **secure rights to land and other productive resources**, achieve access to adequate inputs, knowledge and productive resources, **veterinary services**, financial services and markets **across the rural-urban continuum**, especially for small and family farmers, pastoralists, and fishers, with a particular focus on women **and indigenous peoples**
- 2.5 by 2030, **implement** ~~develop~~ food systems that are more productive, sustainable, **diverse**, resilient and efficient, **maintain and regenerate natural resources and ecosystems**, and ~~minimize adverse human and environmental impacts without compromising food and nutrition security~~ **and eliminate use of highly hazardous pesticides, as well as reduce intensity of use of synthetic fertilizers**
- 2.7 by 2030 reduce by 50% production and **post-production, including** post-harvest food losses ~~and those along food supply chains~~
- 2.8 by 2030, fully implement agricultural **and agro-ecological** practices that strengthen resilience and adaptation to extreme weather, drought, climate change and natural disasters, in particular for small-scale farmers, **women, pastoralists and fishers**
- 2.9 achieve by 2030 protection and sustainable use of agricultural biodiversity **and forests**, including through enhanced use and application of indigenous practices and local and traditional knowledge, and through ~~agricultural~~ research and development related to agro-biodiversity and diversity of food
- 2.11 by **2020** fully implement measures that curb excessive food price volatility and ensure proper functioning of markets

Targets to be added:

- **concentration and misappropriation of land and their social and environmental negative impacts are halted is prevented and productive lands are redistributed**

Move target 6 under proposed goal 15 to proposed goal 2:

- by 2030 **restore an annual amount of degraded land equivalent to the annual amount of land degraded** ~~halt and prevent land degradation~~, reclaim land affected by desertification and drought, and improve land productivity and soil quality

## **Additional interventions**

### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Targets to be added:
  - concentration and misappropriation of land and their social and environmental negative impacts are halted, land grabbing is prevented and productive lands are redistributed
  - communities, especially women, are adequately prepared for and equipped to mitigate climate change impacts on agriculture and water resources and climate change resilience is mainstreamed into sustainable practices and methodologies
  - the rights of women and men over traditional seeds are guaranteed and genetic resources are managed under a human rights, sustainable, socially just and accountable framework
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target.

### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 2.1 **by 2030**, end hunger and ensure that all people have access to adequate, safe, affordable, and nutritious food all year round ~~by 2030~~
  - 2.3 by 2030, substantially increase **the sustainability of** small-scale food producers' incomes and productivity, including small family farmers, pastoralists and fishers, with a particular focus on women
  - 2.4 by 2030 achieve access to adequate inputs, knowledge and productive resources, financial services, **entrepreneurship training** and markets, especially for small and family farmers, pastoralists, and fishers, with a particular focus on women **and indigenous people**
  - 2.7 by 2030, reduce by ~~50%~~ **the global rate of production and post-harvest food losses and waste globally and those along food supply chains including at retail and consumer level**
  - 2.8 by 2030, ~~fully~~ implement agricultural practices that strengthen resilience and adaptation to extreme weather, drought, climate change and natural disasters, in particular for small-scale farmers
  - 2.10 improve effectiveness of addressing humanitarian food emergencies, ~~including as appropriate through stockholding~~
  - 2.9 – see goal 15
- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030, double food production while improving efficiency per unit produced to protect biodiversity and land resources
  - by 2030, ensure access to basic resources in rural areas of land, water, infrastructure in order to increase rural development by as much as 30%
- Targets to be excluded: 2.5, 2.6, 2.11

### ***On behalf of the Science and Technology Major Group***

- Targets to be added:
  - eliminate agricultural extensification and maintain arable lands
  - improve soil health, including erosion, soil acidification, soil carbon stores, and soil salinity grades
  - increase the water use efficiency of agricultural systems and establish targets for water use per unit of agriculture produced

### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Target to be added:
  - ensure by 2030 that concentration and misappropriation of land and their social and environmental negative impacts are halted, agricultural land grabbing for non-agricultural purposes is prevented and productive lands are redistributed
  - by 2020 Review/eliminate application of unproven and unsustainable technologies in agriculture including genetic modification
  - (2.6) reduce intensity of use of water by at least x%, use of chemicals at least by y% and use of energy at least by z%
  - (2.7) by 2030 eliminate the subsidies given by developed countries to agriculture, remove unilateral trade measures which prevent export of agricultural goods from markets in developed countries
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport***

- Amendment to target:
  - 2.4 by 2030 achieve access to adequate inputs, knowledge and productive resources, financial services, **safe reliable and affordable transport**, and markets, especially for small and family farmers, pastoralists, and fishers, with a particular focus on women

### **Proposed goal 3.**

#### Attain healthy life for all at all ages

*On behalf of the Major Group of Children and Youth, the Women's Major Group, Blacksmith Institute, Centre for Human Rights and Climate Change Research, FIA FOUNDATION, Global Surgery and Anaesthesia Partners, Fundacion para estudio e Investigacion de la Mujer, Global Alliance on Health and Pollution and its Secretariat, Johns Hopkins University, Global Youth Coalition on HIV/AIDS (GYCA), Handicap International, HIV Young Leaders Fund (HYLF), ICASO, Indonesia Positive Women Network (IPPI), International AIDS Vaccine Initiative (IAVI), International AIDS Women Caucus, International Civil Society Support (ICSS), Stakeholder Group on Ageing, STOPAIDS*

Rewording of paragraph 4 of introduction to include the **right to health** after the right to food.

Amendments to targets:

- 3.1 by 2030 ~~reduce the~~ **eliminate preventable** maternal mortality ratio to less than 40 per 100,000 live births **and reduce morbidity**
- 3.3 by 2030 end HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria, and neglected tropical diseases **by guaranteeing equitable, universal and affordable access to prevention, treatment, care and support for all people of all ages, with a particular focus on adolescents and young people**
- 3.4 by 2030 reduce by ~~x%~~ **at least 40%** premature deaths from non-communicable diseases (NCDs), ~~reduce deaths from injuries, including halving road traffic deaths, promote mental health and wellbeing, and strengthen prevention and treatment of narcotic drug and substance abuse~~ **morbidity, and disability, reduce by 50% deaths from road traffic injuries, and reduce by x% stress-related and mental health and neurological disorders**
- 3.5 ~~by 2030~~ increase healthy life expectancy for all by x% **at birth and at age 60**
- 3.6 achieve universal health coverage (UHC), including **strengthening health systems, and ensuring access to essential health services, a well-trained health workforce, and financial risk protection including zero impoverishment due to health expenses and zero catastrophic out of pocket expenses**, with particular attention to the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations
- 3.7 by 2030 ensure universal availability and access to safe, effective, quality **and affordable essential medicines, vaccines, immunizations and medical technologies, including health and assistive technologies, treatments and services, including essential surgical care, anaesthesia, and rehabilitation** for all
- 3.8 **by 2030**, ensure universal access to **high quality, comprehensive, equitable and integrated** sexual and reproductive health ~~for all~~ **services, information and education, and respect, protect and fulfil all human rights in this regard, with a particular focus on adolescents and young people**
- 3.9 by 2030 decrease by x%/~~two-thirds~~ the number of deaths and illnesses **disability adjusted life years (DALYS)** from indoor and outdoor air pollution **of air (indoor and outdoor), soil and water**

## Additional interventions

### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Target to be added:
  - 3.10 generate and provide global access to a standard data set for information on cancer, hormone (endocrine) disruption, reproductive toxicity, and other health risks of all substances used in industrial processes and agriculture by 2020
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for detailed analysis target by target.

### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 3.2 ~~by 2030 end preventable newborn, infant and under-five child deaths~~ **and reduce by x% child and maternal morbidity**
  - 3.3 ~~by 2030 end~~ **reduce the burden of disease from HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria, and neglected tropical diseases**
  - 3.4 ~~by 2030 reduce by x% the risk of premature deaths~~ **mortality** from non-communicable diseases (NCDs), **injuries and reduce deaths from injuries, including halving road traffic deaths**, promote **with strong focus on prevention** mental health and wellbeing, and strengthen prevention and treatment of narcotic drug and substance abuse
  - 3.6 **by 2030, increase by x% the number of people with access to affordable health coverage**, ~~achieve universal health coverage (UHC)~~, including financial risk protection, with particular attention to the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations
  - 3.7 by 2030 ensure universal ~~availability~~ **coverage** and access to safe, effective and quality affordable essential medicines, vaccines, and medical technologies for all
  - 3.8 **by 2030**, ensure universal access to sexual and reproductive health **services** for all
- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030, increase by x% the proportion of children, adolescents, at-risk adults and older people that are fully immunized with essential vaccines
  - by 2030, strengthen prevention and treatment of narcotic drug and substance abuse
- Target to be excluded: 3.5

### ***On behalf of the Science and Technology Major Group***

- Amendments to target:
  - 3.5 [percentage should be expressed as a function of current life expectancy]
- Target to be added:
  - Reduce the rate of non-communicable diseases by x%

### ***On behalf of the Stakeholder Group on Ageing***

- Amendment to target:
  - 3.4 by 2030 reduce by x% ~~premature~~ **preventable** deaths from non-communicable diseases (NCDs) ~~reduce deaths from injuries, including halving road traffic deaths, promote mental health and wellbeing, and strengthen prevention and treatment of narcotic drug and substance abuse~~
- Add target:
  - 3.5 by 2030 increase healthy life expectancy for all by x%

### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

### ***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport***

- Amendment to target:
  - 3.4 by 2030 reduce by x% premature deaths from non-communicable diseases (NCDs), reduce deaths from injuries, including halving road traffic deaths **and serious injuries**, promote mental health and wellbeing, and strengthen prevention and treatment of narcotic drug and substances abuse

***On behalf of the Psychology Coalition at the UN***

- Rewording of goal to “Attain healthy life **and wellbeing** for all at all ages”
- Target to be added:
  - by 2030, reduce by x% stress-related and mental health disorders and provide universal access to comprehensive culturally appropriate mental health and wellbeing services, training and education with an emphasis on prevention.

***On behalf of the Global Surgery and Anaesthesia Partners***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 3.4 by 2030 reduce by x% premature deaths from non-communicable diseases (NCDs), reduce deaths from injuries, including road traffic deaths, **reduce deaths from neglected surgical diseases**, promote mental health and wellbeing, and strengthen prevention and treatment of narcotic drug and substance abuse
  - 3.6 achieve universal health coverage (UHC) [**include mention to essential surgical care**], including financial risk protection, with particular attention to the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations

***On behalf of the Global Alliance on Health and Pollution***

- Target to be added:
  - by 2030, (From the baseline of 2012) reduce by two-thirds (or x %) the number of deaths and disability from pollution of air (indoor and outdoor), soil and water

***On behalf of NCD Alliance and the International Federation of Medical Students' Associations***

- Amendment to target:
  - 3.4 by 2030 reduce by **at least 40%** premature deaths from non-communicable diseases (NCDs), reduce **by 50%** deaths from **road traffic** injuries, ~~including halving road traffic deaths, promote mental health and wellbeing, and strengthen prevention and treatment of narcotic drug and substance abuse~~ **and address mental and neurological disorders**
- Target to be reinstalled:
  - by 2030, reduce narcotic drug and substance abuse, and ensure the adequate availability of controlled substances for medical use

## **Proposed goal 4.**

Provide equitable and inclusive quality education and life-long learning opportunities for all

*On behalf of the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group, the Women's Major Group, the Major Group for Children and Youth and the Indigenous Peoples Major Group*

Rewording of goal to: ~~Provide~~ **Ensure** equitable and inclusive quality education and life-long learning opportunities for all

Amendments to targets:

- 4.1 by 2030 **implement the right to education by ensuring that** all girls and boys complete free, equitable, **inclusive** and quality primary and secondary education leading to relevant and effective learning outcomes, **with particular attention to gender, race/ethnicity and the most marginalized groups, significantly reducing gaps in learning between advantaged and disadvantaged groups**
- 4.2 by 2030 ensure equal access for all to **free lifelong learning opportunities, and** ~~affordable~~ quality tertiary education and life-long learning
- 4.3 by 2030 increase ~~by x% the proportion of children able to access and complete~~ **ensure universal quality** inclusive **early childhood and** quality pre-primary education ~~and other early childhood development programmes,~~ **with gaps in child development between advantaged and disadvantaged groups significantly reduced**
- 4.4 **by 2030** achieve universal youth **and adult** literacy and ~~basic~~ **functional** numeracy ~~and an increase by x% of adult literacy and basic numeracy by 2030~~ **with particular attention to women, and the poor, the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations**
- 4.5 by 2030 increase by x% the number of young and adult women and men with the skills needed for **life and decent work** ~~employment,~~ including vocational **training and education,** ICT, technical, engineering and scientific skills
- 4.6 by 2030 ensure that **women and** people in vulnerable situations and marginalized people including **adolescent girls,** persons with disabilities, ~~and~~ indigenous peoples, **and racial/ethnic minorities** have **equal** access to inclusive **and culturally appropriate quality** education, skills development and vocational training ~~aligned with labour market needs~~
- 4.7 by 2030 integrate relevant knowledge and skills in education curricula and **lifelong learning** ~~training~~ programs, including education for sustainable development, **human rights, gender equality and global citizenship education, comprehensive sexuality education** and awareness raising on culture's contribution to sustainable development
- 4.8 by 2030 ensure that all schools and other educational institutions provide safe, healthy, non-discriminatory and inclusive learning environments for all, **including in emergencies, with adequate infrastructure, sanitation facilities and adequate resources, and with a particular focus on adolescent girls**
- 4.9 by 2030 enhance the quality of teaching ~~through promoting training for teachers~~ **by ensuring that all learners are taught by qualified, professionally-trained, motivated and well-supported teachers, who receive adequate pay and enjoy decent working conditions, with X:Y student-**

## **teacher ratio in primary and secondary schools, and eliminating regional disparities in number of trained teachers**

Target to be added:

4.10 by 2030 all women and men, girls and boys have access to evidence-based, universally accessible, quality, non-judgemental comprehensive sexuality education which promotes human rights, tolerance, gender equality and non-violence, in formal, non-formal, and informal educational systems

### **Additional interventions**

#### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Target to be added:
  - 4.10 by 2030 all women, adolescent and girls have access to evidence-based, universally accessible, quality, non-judgemental comprehensive sexuality education which promotes values of respect for human rights, tolerance, gender equality and non-violence, that caters to formal, non-formal, and informal educational systems.
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target.

#### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030 increase by x% the proportion of children able to access and complete pre-primary education
  - by 2030 ensure every child, regardless of circumstance, completes primary education able to read, write and count well enough to meet minimum learning standards
  - by 2030 ensure every child, regardless of circumstance, has access to lower secondary education and increase the proportion of adolescents who achieve recognized and measurable learning outcomes to x%
  - by 2030 provide enhanced computing skills at primary and secondary level
  - by 2030 ensure equal access for all to affordable quality tertiary education and life-long learning [replacing target 4.5]
- Targets to be excluded: 4.3, 4.4, 4.5, 4.6, 4.8, 4.9

#### ***On behalf of the Science and Technology Major Group***

- Target to be added:
  - All students are able to demonstrate the capabilities, competencies and capacities to contribute to the current and future needs of the skill-based economy and a sustainable future through the development and implementation of a national Education for Sustainable Development (ESD) strategy

#### ***On behalf of the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 4.2 by 2030 ensure equal access for all to ~~affordable~~ **free** quality tertiary education and life-long learning
  - 4.3 by 2030 ~~increase by x% the proportion of children able to access and complete~~ **ensure universal inclusive quality early childhood and pre-primary education** and ~~other early childhood development programmes~~

- 4.4 achieve universal youth ~~literacy and basic numeracy and an increase by x% of~~ **and** adult literacy and basic numeracy by 2030, **with particular attention to women and the poor, the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations**
- 4.5 by 2030 increase by x% the number of young and adult women and men with the skills needed for **decent work employment**, including vocational training, ICT, technical, engineering and scientific skills
- 4.6 by 2030 ensure that people in vulnerable situations and marginalized people including persons with disabilities and indigenous peoples have **equal** access to inclusive **quality** education, skills development and vocational training ~~aligned with labour market needs~~
- 4.7 by 2030 integrate relevant knowledge and skills in education curricula and training programs, including education for sustainable development **and human rights** and awareness raising on culture's contribution to sustainable development
- 4.8 by 2030 ensure that all schools and other educational institutions provide safe, healthy, non-discriminatory and inclusive learning environments for all, **including ensuring adequate sanitary facilities and freedom from violence at, around and on the way to school**
- 4.9 by 2030 enhance the quality of teaching **by ensuring that all learners are taught by qualified, professionally-trained, motivated and well-supported teachers**

***On behalf of the Indigenous Peoples Major Group***

- Amendment to targets:
  - 4.5 by 2030 ensure that people in vulnerable situations and marginalized people including persons with disabilities and indigenous peoples have access to inclusive **and culturally appropriate** education, skills development and vocational training ~~aligned with labour market needs~~

***On behalf of Stakeholder Group on Ageing***

- Amendment to target:
  - 4.4 achieve universal youth literacy and basic numeracy ~~and an increase by x% of adult literacy and basic numeracy~~ by 2030

***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Child Fund Alliance, Plan, Unicef, SOS Children's Villages, Save the Children, World Vision and SRSB on Violence against Children***

- Amendment to target:
  - 4.8 by 2030 ensure that all schools and other educational institutions provide safe, **non-violent**, healthy, non-discriminatory and inclusive learning environments **and are free from all forms of violence**

***On behalf of the Psychology Coalition at the UN***

- Amendment to target:
  - 4.5 by 2030 increase by x% the number of young and adult women and men with the skills needed for employment, including vocational training, ICT, technical, engineering and scientific skills, **and income generating activities integrated with life skills**
  - 4.7 by 2030 integrate relevant knowledge and skills, **and awareness raising about the contribution of culture**, in education curricula and training programs, ~~including education for~~ **with emphasis on** sustainable development and health and wellbeing ~~and awareness raising on culture's contribution to sustainable development~~

## **Proposed goal 5.**

### Attain gender equality, empower women and girls everywhere

*On behalf of the Major Group for Children and Youth, the Women's Major Group, the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group, the NGO's Major Group, the Mining Working Group at the UN, WECF International, Resurj, WEDO, Femnet Africa, IWHC, IPPF WH, Equidad de Genero Mexico, GFC*

Rewording of goal to: **Achieve attain** gender equality, **the full realization of all** women and girls' **human rights and their** empowerment

Amendments to targets:

- 5.1 **by 2030** end all forms of discrimination against **all** women and girls **of all ages**
- 5.2 **by 2030** eliminate all forms of violence against all women and girls in public and private ~~spaces~~ **spheres**
- 5.3 **by 2030** eliminate all harmful practices, including child, early and forced marriage and female genital mutilations **and honor killings**
- 5.4 **by 2030** ensure equal access to quality education, **including comprehensive sexuality education**, and eliminate gender disparities at all levels of education and training
- 5.5 **by 2030** ensure women's equal access to full and productive employment and decent work, and equal pay for work of equal value
- 5.6 **by 2030** reduce and redistribute unpaid **domestic** care and domestic work through shared responsibility **by states, private sector, communities, and men and women**
- 5.7 **by 2030** ensure women's equal access to, control and ownership of assets and natural and other productive resources, **secure rights to land, property and inheritance**  
[combine the rest of target ("as well as non-discriminatory access to essential services and infrastructure, including financial services and ICT") with 17.16]
- 5.8 **by 2020** ensure full, equal and effective participation and leadership of women **and girls** at all levels of decision-making in the public and private spheres, **including in conflict prevention, mediation and resolution**
- 5.9 **by 2030** ensure universal access to sexual and reproductive health and ~~reproductive~~ rights **free from stigma, violence, coercion and discrimination for all women and girls of all ages** ~~in accordance with the Programme of Action of the ICPD~~
- 5.10 ~~ensure~~ **promote** the availability of gender **and age** disaggregated data to improve **the formulation, monitoring and evaluation of** gender equality policies, **laws and programs**, including gender responsive budgeting
- 5.11 fully engage men and boys **to take responsibility to end discrimination and violence against women and girls**, achieve gender equality and ~~the empowerment of women and girls~~ **realize women and girls' human rights**

Target to be added:

- 5.12 by 2020 guarantee access to information and justice for all women and girls

## **Additional interventions**

### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for detailed analysis target by target.

### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 5.10 promote the availability of gender disaggregated data to improve gender equality policies, ~~including gender responsive budgeting~~
- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030 end all forms of discrimination against women and girls of all ages
  - by 2030 end violence against women and girls in all its forms
  - by 2030 ensure equal education and employment opportunities for women and equal pay for equal work
  - by 2030 ensure equal participation and leadership of women in decision-making in public institutions
  - eliminate all harmful practices, including child, early and forced marriage and female genital mutilations [to replace target 5.2]
- Targets to be excluded: 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, 5.11

### ***On behalf of the Stakeholder Group on Ageing***

- Amendments to target (reinstatement):
  - 5.1 end all forms of discrimination against [**DELETE: women and girls**] [**ADD: girls and women of all ages**]

### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

### ***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

### ***On behalf of the Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport***

- Amendment to target:
  - 5.7 ensure women's equal access to, control and ownership of assets and natural and other productive resources, as well as non-discriminatory access to essential services and infrastructure, including financial services **as well as transport** and ICT

### ***On behalf of the Child Fund Alliance, Plan, Unicef, SOS Children's Villages, Save the Children, World Vision and SRSF on Violence against Children***

- Amendment to target:
  - 5.2 eliminate all forms of violence against all women, girls **and boys in all settings, including** in public and private spaces
  - 5.3 eliminate all harmful practices **against boys and girls**, including child, early and forced marriage and female genital mutilation

## **Proposed goal 6.**

### Secure water and sanitation for all for a sustainable world

*On behalf of the Women's Major Group, Blue Planet Project, Mining Working Group at the UN, End Water Poverty, WECF International and Temple of Understanding. Endorsed by the Indigenous Peoples Major Group, NGO Major Group, Children and Youth Major Group, Workers and Trade Unions Major Group, ETC Group, Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy, Food and Water Watch, Food and Water Europe, Ingenieria Sin Fronteras, Public Services International, Transnational Institute, WEDO, Sisters of Mercy, Loretto Community, Franciscans International*

Rewording of paragraph four of introduction to include the **human right to water and sanitation** after the right to food.

Rewording of goal to: ~~Secure~~ **ensure the human right** water and sanitation for all for a sustainable world

Amendments to targets:

- 6.1 by **2020, ensure the human right to water and sanitation by** providing universal access to safe, **sufficient**, affordable, **acceptable and accessible** ~~drinking potable~~ water, adequate sanitation and hygiene for all, **while progressively eliminating inequalities**
- 6.2 by **2020** provide universal access to **sufficient**, safe, affordable **and acceptable** sanitation and hygiene including at home, schools, **workplaces**, health centers and refugee camps, paying special attention to the needs of **marginalized groups including** women and girls
- 6.3 by 2030, improve water quality by significantly reducing pollution, eliminating dumping of toxic materials, and improving wastewater management by x%, recycling and reuse by y%
- 6.4 by 2030, improve ~~water use efficiency~~ **watersheds protection** by x% ~~across all sectors~~ **through a hierarchy of water use that prioritizes basic human needs, local consumption, and healthy ecosystems**
- 6.5 implement ~~integrated~~ **people-centered democratic, participatory and accountable** water resources management, including appropriate **and transparent** trans-boundary co-operation
- 6.6 ~~ensure sustainable extraction and supply of fresh water, and by 2020 protect and restore ecosystems and aquifers that provide water-related services~~ **by 2020, set a zero target on fresh water extraction beyond sustainable supply and protect and restore ecosystems and aquifers**
- 6.7 by 2030 decrease by x% mortality, **disease**, and decrease by y% economic losses caused by natural and human-induced water-related disasters, **contamination and scarcity**
- 6.8 provide adequate **publicly financed and operated** facilities and infrastructure, ~~both built and natural~~, for safe drinking water and sanitation systems, for ~~productive~~ **equitable and sustainable** uses of water resources and for mitigating the impacts of water-related disasters **and health risks**

Target to be added:

- 6.9 By 2020, significantly reduce inequality in access to water supplies through hierarchy of water use that prioritizes vulnerable populations and fragile ecosystems over large-scale commercial uses.

## **Additional interventions**

### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Target to be added:
  - by 2030, significantly improve water quality, eliminate pollution and dumping of toxic materials in water bodies, and protect aquifers
  - finance and promote indigenous, traditional and appropriate water conservation strategies including harvesting and storage technologies, and double the rainwater harvested by 2030
  - by 2020, significantly reduce inequality in access to water supplies through hierarchy of water use that prioritizes vulnerable populations and fragile ecosystems over large-scale commercial uses
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target.

### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Replace targets by:
  - 6.1 by 2030, eliminate open defecation; to achieve universal access to basic drinking water, sanitation and hygiene for households, schools and health facilities; to halve the proportion of the population without access at home to safely managed drinking water and sanitation services; and to progressively eliminate inequalities in access
  - 6.2 by 2030 improve by (x%) the sustainable use and development of water resources in all countries
  - 6.3 by 2030 strengthen equitable, participatory and accountable water governance in all countries including appropriate trans-boundary cooperation
  - 6.4 by 2030 reduce wastewater pollution and improve water quality by reducing untreated domestic and industrial wastewater by (x%); increasing wastewater reused safely by (y%); and reducing nutrient pollution by (z%) to maximize water resource availability
  - 6.5 by 2030 Reduce mortality by x% and economic loss by y% from water-related disasters.

### ***On behalf of the Science and Technology Major Group***

- Target to be added:
  - Ensure water systems have the capacity to cope with extreme events, in particular climate change impacts and rapid population growth in urban areas

### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

### ***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

## **Proposed goal 7.**

Ensure access to affordable, sustainable, and reliable modern energy services for all

*On behalf of the Women's Major Group, the Major Group for Children and Youth, the Indigenous Peoples Major Group, the NGO's Major Group, the Mining Working Group, Beyond 2015 and WECF International*

Amendments to targets:

- 7.1 by 2030 ensure universal access to **safe** sustainable modern energy services for all **with gender-equitable governance of and ownership over energy sources, services and technologies**
- 7.2 **at least triple** ~~double~~ the share of **socially and environmentally sound** renewable energy in the global energy mix by **2020 and quadruple the rate by 2030**
- 7.3 double the global rate of improvement in energy efficiency by 2030
- 7.4 by 2030 increase by x% globally the share of **socially and environmentally sound non-fossil clean** energy technologies, **especially for women, indigenous peoples, farmers and entrepreneurs**, including sustainable biomass and **efficient, affordable cooking and lighting solutions** ~~advanced cookstoves~~
- 7.5 by 2030 phase out ~~inefficient~~ fossil fuel subsidies, **indirect subsidies for nuclear energy**, that ~~encourage~~ **and curtail** wasteful consumption **of energy**, with solutions that aim to secure affordable energy for the poorest **with parity criteria for gender equality**
- 7.6 by 2030 expand, ~~and~~ upgrade **and increase the resiliency of energy** infrastructure as appropriate for supply, transmission and distribution of **socially and environmentally sound modern and renewable energy services with propriety for locally produced and controlled energy services for** ~~in~~ rural and urban areas, **aiming** ~~including with a view to doubling primary energy supply per capita for LDCs~~

Targets to be added:

- 7.7 Internalize the full costs of the impacts of energy production, for example health and social and environmental impacts of fossil fuels, creating a level and sustainable playing field.
- 7.8 Increase energy intensity and reduce carbon intensity.
- 7.9 By 2030 halt the installation and setup of non-renewable energy sources.

### **Additional interventions**

#### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

#### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 7.2 **by 2030** double the share of renewable energy in the global energy mix ~~by 2030~~
  - 7.3 **by 2030** double the global rate of improvement in energy efficiency ~~by 2030~~
  - 7.4 by 2030 increase by x% globally the share of clean **and low or zero-emission** energy technologies, including sustainable biomass and advanced cookstoves

7.5 by 2030 expand and upgrade as appropriate infrastructure for supply, transmission and distribution of modern and renewable energy services in rural and urban areas, ~~including with a view to doubling primary energy supply per capita for LDCs~~

- Target to be excluded: 7.5

***On behalf of the Science and Technology Major Group***

- Target to be added on reduction of carbon intensity and increase in intensity of energy production

***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Target to be added:
  - reduce wasteful energy use in developed countries by x%
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

## **Proposed goal 8.**

Promote strong, inclusive and sustainable economic growth and decent work for all

*On behalf of the Major Group for Children and Youth, the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group, the Women's Major Group, the Indigenous Peoples Major Group, Beyond2015, WWF International, Psychological Coalition and WECF International*

Rewording of goal to:

- **Ensure decent work for all, and strong, inclusive and sustainable economic growth development within planetary boundaries**

Amendments to targets:

- 8.1 ~~sustain~~ **increase** per capita economic ~~growth~~ **human development index and GDP in low income countries** of at least x% per annum (with x being set at a level appropriate to national circumstances)
- 8.3 by 2030 **implement right to work by** achieving full and productive employment and decent work **with a living wage** for all women and men, **eliminating the gender pay-gap, in particular including** for young, **elder** people and persons with disabilities, **informal sector, migrant, and domestic workers**
- 8.5 create a sound **pro-employment** macroeconomic environment with strong **redistributive** fiscal and monetary policies **that promote equitable and sustainable environmental and socially sound development, and mobilize resources to finance public services**
- 8.5bis. Set targets to place caps on virgin resource extraction including through Cap-and-Share.**
- 8.6 create an enabling environment for business **that is transparent, accountable, social and environmentally responsible and promotes decent job creation and gender equality and with** strong national economic institutions and policies that support investment ~~and promote competition~~ **under the highest standards of financial and accountability practices with zero negative social and environmental impacts**
- 8.8 create enabling conditions for increased growth and productivity of micro-, small- and medium-scale enterprises (SMEs) **and cooperatives** including through policies that promote **local markets**, entrepreneurship, creativity, **alternative forms of ownership**, and innovation, and through improved **equitable** access to markets and financial services
- 8.8bis **Increase union membership density by x% by 2030**  
**By 2020 Protect the rights of all workers, including migrant workers, in compliance with ILO fundamental principles and rights at work, and international labour standards**  
**By 2020 ensure a minimum living wage sufficient to support a family to live with dignity, particularly workers in the informal sector, women workers, domestic workers, and migrant workers**
- 8.9 increase the share of ~~high-productivity~~ **transparency and accountability of productive** sectors and activities in the economy **that promote productive employment and decent work**, and strengthen productive capacities through technological upgrading **skills development**, greater value addition and product diversification, with a particular focus on LDCs
- 8.10 promote ~~greater resource efficiency~~ **absolute, not relative decoupling of resources use, waste generation (ecological footprint) and negative social impacts** of economic activities, including through sustainable supply chains, ~~according to national circumstances and capacities~~

- 8.11 support the development of **locally-owned and governed** quality, reliable, **job-intensive** sustainable and resilient infrastructure for transport, energy, water and communications, in particular in developing countries with a focus on **control, access, and decision-making with gender equality under the human rights framework by** for the rural and urban poor
- 8.12 improve regional and trans-border infrastructure to promote effective, **accountable and transparent, social and environmentally sound** regional economic ~~integration and facilitate trade exchange~~, **in full respect of diverse conditions of countries and peoples, eliminating extraterritorial practices with negative impacts for human rights and environment that eliminate trade and investment treaties that impoverish nationals and people by 2020**
- 8.13 end child labour by 2030, protect the **human** rights and ensure safe and secure working environments of all workers, including migrant workers and those in precarious employment **including access to legal recourse and adequate redress of grievance**
- 8.14 promote formalization **and regulation** of informal sector activities and employment **with full access to social protection floors even in the stages of informal conditions of work (ref: ILO convention C177 on home work) which recognizes domestic and care work as work, and reduces and redistributes unpaid care work among genders, and between households and states**
- 8.15 by 2030 lower the overall costs in migration processes, **guarantee human rights of persons regardless of their geographical condition, regulate the conditions of migration to ensure compliance with all decent work provisions**, and minimize transaction costs of remittances
- 8.16 ~~explore the possibility of~~ Create a global broader system of capital accounting looking beyond GDP and incorporating social, human and environmental capital, **including indicators for wellbeing and satisfaction, including human rights, social and environmental safeguards** [[can be merged with 8.1](#)]

Suggest that a third type of indicator is added, maybe in grey colour, in addition to the unique targets of the goal, the MOI targets of the goal and then the inter-linkage targets of the goal, which are targets which have been taken out of other goals and refer to this goal area.

#### **Additional interventions**

##### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Target to be added:
  - all countries legislate for and provide all workers with a minimum living wage sufficient to support a family to live with dignity, particularly workers in the informal sector, women workers, domestic workers, and migrant workers
  - increase union membership density by x% by 2030
  - End policies and practices that promote the exploitation of migrant workers, including through the regulation of recruitment agencies and the elimination of debt bondage.
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for detailed analysis target by target.

##### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 8.3 by 2030 achieve full and productive employment ~~and decent work~~ for all women and men, including for young people and persons with disabilities
  - 8.5 create a sound macroeconomic environment with ~~strong~~ **effective** fiscal and monetary policies
  - 8.8 create enabling conditions for increased growth, **enterprise creation** and productivity of micro-, small- and medium-scale enterprises (SMEs), including through policies that promote **inclusive**

**business practices**, entrepreneurship, creativity and innovation, and through improved access to markets and financial services

- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030 reduce by x% the informal sector and ensure property rights and legal protection for entrepreneurs as well as the reform of regulations to redress legal and administrative barriers to formalization
  - by 2030 ensure full access to private finance, including basic savings, loans and growth capital products, on fair terms including for women and marginalized groups
- Targets to be excluded:
  - 8.1, 8.2, 8.4, 8.7, 8.10, 8.14, 8.15 and 8.16

#### ***On behalf of the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 8.5 create a sound **pro-employment** macroeconomic environment with strong fiscal and monetary policies
  - 8.6. create an enabling environment for business with strong national economic institutions and policies that support investment and promote competition and **decent job creation**
  - 8.9. increase the share of high productivity sectors and activities in the economy, and strengthen productive capacities through technological upgrading, **skills development**, greater value addition and product diversification, with a particular focus on LDCs
  - 8.11. support the development of quality, reliable, **job-intensive**, sustainable and resilient infrastructure for transport, energy, water and communications, in particular in developing countries with a focus on access for the rural and urban poor
- Target to be added:
  - increase the coverage of social protection floors and the gradual implementation of higher standards of social guarantees
- Target to be reinstated:
  - protect the rights of all workers, including migrant workers, in compliance with ILO fundamental principles and rights at work, and international labour standards

#### ***On behalf of the Indigenous Peoples Major Group***

- Amendment to targets:
  - 8.14 promote formalization of informal sector activities and **employment and to officially recognize traditional occupations as forms of employment of Indigenous Peoples and other communities as essential to their well-being and livelihoods**

#### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

#### ***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Targets to be added:
  - increase union membership density by x% by 2030
  - all countries legislate for and provide all workers with a minimum living wage sufficient to support a family to live with dignity, particularly workers in the informal sector, women workers, domestic workers, and migrant workers
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

#### ***On behalf of the Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport***

- Amendment to target:
  - 8.11 support the development of quality, reliable, sustainable and resilient infrastructure **and services**

for transport, energy, water and communications, in particular in developing countries with a focus on **safe, reliable and affordable all-season** access for the rural and urban poor

- 8.12 improve regional and trans-border infrastructure and **associated transport services** to promote effective regional economic integration and facilitate trade

***On behalf of the Child Fund Alliance, Plan, Unicef, SOS Children's Villages, Save the Children, World Vision and SRSG on Violence against Children***

- Amendment to target:

8.13 end **the worst forms of child labour by 2020 and all child labour** by 2030, protect the rights and ensure safe and secure working environments of all workers, including migrant workers and those in precarious employment

***On behalf of Christian Aid/CESR***

- Amendment to target:

8.2 ~~sustain income growth of the bottom 40% of the income distribution of each country of at least y (greater than x)% to reduce income inequalities by 2030~~ **reduce economic inequality within countries, through enhanced use of progressive taxation on income and wealth**

***On behalf of the Psychology Coalition at the UN***

- Amendment to target:

8.16 **create a global** broader system of capital accounting looking beyond GDP and incorporation social, human and environmental capital, **to include measures for wellbeing and satisfaction**

## **Proposed goal 9.**

### Promote sustainable industrialization

*On behalf of the Women's Major Group, the NGO's Major Group, the Major Group for Children and Youth and WECF International*

Rewording of goal to: "Promote sustainable industrialization **production in all sectors**"

Suggest to merge proposed goal 9 with proposed goal 12

Amendments to targets:

- 9.1 ~~achieve structural transformation towards progressively higher levels of productivity in all sectors and activities~~ **achieve structural transformation towards sustainable economies through value addition and decent jobs, while safeguarding human rights and the environment** [merged with target 12.3]
- 9.2 ~~respect~~ **protect** national policy space and national circumstances for industrial development, particularly in developing countries **that benefit the poorest and most marginalised people, while preserving livelihoods and doing no harm to the environment**
- 9.3 ~~ensure a conducive policy environment for industrial development, including encouragement of industrial entrepreneurship and enterprise formation with inclusion of micro- and SMEs~~ **increase the rate of enterprise formation in developing countries by x% with priority support for cooperatives, micro- and SMEs and in industrial and service sectors, which fully incorporate sustainable supply chains, decent work, resource and energy efficiency and environmental protection** [merged with target 12.10]
- 9.3bis **by 2030, increase by x% the resource-efficiency of industry, reduce by y% harmful chemicals used and waste generated, and decrease by z% the intensity of carbon emissions from the industrial sector**
- 9.4 ~~significantly raise industry's share of employment and GDP in line with national strategies, including doubling manufacturing's share in LDCs by 2030~~ **by 2030 at least double the share of decent jobs in industrial and service sectors in LDCs in line with social, gender and environmental reporting guidelines** [merged with target 12.9]
- 9.5 ~~increase industrial diversification~~ **and revenue from product development through enhanced processing of raw materials, while reducing waste, pollution, avoiding land-grabbing and displacement of local communities and legislating international corporations** [merged with target 12.]
- 9.6 support the **fair** integration of developing country industrial enterprises, **including SME's and cooperatives**, particularly in Africa and LDCs, into regional and global value chains **through ensuring fair market access addressing current inequalities of trade regimes**
- 9.8 promote industrial research, development and innovation **through public means, for socially and environmentally sustainable solutions, applying the 'no-data no market' principle**, including **creation of a participatory technology assessment mechanism and** raising the ratio of ~~R&D workers per one million people by x% and the share of~~ **spending on universities and independent R&D in GDP by y%** [merged with target 12.]
- 9.9 upgrade the technological capabilities, **accountability and governance** of industrial sectors in developing countries, including in middle income countries, and improve industrial resource efficiency by accelerating the development, transfer and adoption of **socially and environmentally sound technologies and processes**

9.10 promote **and protect** indigenous technology development and the growth of domestic innovation in developing countries

9.11 by 2030 retrofit x% of existing industries with clean technologies and **socially and environmentally sound industrial processes** to achieve y% energy and z% resource-efficiency improvement, with all countries taking action, developed countries taking the lead and developing countries following a similar pattern taking into account their development needs and capabilities, **with full accordance to human rights framework and gender equality**

9.12 ensure small-scale industrial producers have affordable access to credit and financial services **with a gender equality approach**

#### **Additional interventions**

##### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Target to be added:
  - by 2030, increase by x% the resource-efficiency, transparency and accountability of industry, reduce by y% harmful chemicals used and waste generated, and decrease by z% the intensity of carbon emissions from the industrial sector
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target.

##### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Replace targets by:
  - 9.1 by 2030 ensure a conducive policy environment for industrial development, including enabling environments for investment and clear enforced environmental regulations
  - 9.2 by 2030 increase industrial diversity particularly in developing countries, especially LDCs, LLDCs, and SIDS, with a focus on shifting towards higher value-added activities
  - 9.3 by 2030 full implementation of UN trade and transport facilitation tools such as the TIR Convention and the Harmonization Convention
  - 9.4 by 2030 increase investment in and maintain basic and ancillary infrastructure including road and rail; electricity generation and supply, including renewable energy; information and communication technologies; water and wastewater services; and the recovery of resources and used materials
  - 9.5 by 2020 implement national plans and measures systematically encourage the strengthening of the technological capabilities of industrial sectors, including plans to accelerate development, dissemination and adoption of environmentally sound industrial technologies, processes and management systems, maintaining strong intellectual property rights protection
  - 9.6 by 2030 develop sustainable infrastructure accessible to all, with attention to needs of countries in special situations, and provide access for x% of rural populations to basic infrastructure and service
  - 9.7 by 2030, expand access by x% to safe, affordable, accessible and sustainable transport

##### ***On behalf of Indigenous Peoples Major Group***

- Amendment to targets:
  - 9.10 promote indigenous technology development **based on traditional knowledge** and the growth of domestic innovation in developing countries

##### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

##### ***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

## **Proposed goal 10.**

### Reduce inequality within and among countries

*On behalf of Beyond 2015, Oxfam, Initiative for Equality (Field Hearings Network), ATD Fourth World, Christian Aid, Academics Stand Against Poverty, ClimateWorks Australia, CONGCOOP, SustainUS, Commons Cluster, UN Rep of Association of World Citizens, KOINONIA Presença Ecumênica e Serviço – Brazil, Association Nigérienne des Scouts de l'Environnement (ANSEN), TEJO - World Esperanto Youth Organisation, Sub-Committee for the Elimination of Racism of the NGO Committee on Human Rights Women Environmental Programme – Nigeria*

- **Strongly oppose merging of Goals 1 (Poverty) and 10 (Equality)**

Rewording of goal to: ~~Reduce~~ **Minimize social, economic and political** inequality within and among countries

Amendments to targets:

#### Reduce inequality among social groups within countries

- 10.1 by 2030 eliminate discriminatory laws, policies and practices **and recognize and fulfill the cultural, social, economic, civil, political, and environmental rights for all human populations, subgroups, and minorities**
- 10.2 ~~achieve and sustain income growth of the bottom 40% of the population that is higher than the national average through 2030~~ **reduce income inequality in all countries such that the post-tax, post-transfer income of the poorest 40% is no less than the post-tax, post-transfer income of the richest 10%**
- 10.3 by 2030 ~~reduce~~ **eliminate** inequalities of opportunity and **minimize inequalities of** outcome among **all** social groups, including economic **(income, assets, and access to resources)**, social, and environmental inequalities
- 10.5 **by 2030 ensure**, empower and promote the social, **political** and economic inclusion of the poor, the marginalized and people in vulnerable situations, including indigenous peoples, women, minorities, migrants, persons with disabilities, older persons, children and youth, **and all other human populations, subgroups, and minorities**
- 10.6 promote and respect cultural diversity **as congruent with the Universal Declaration of Human Rights**
- 10.7 ensure the availability **and accessibility** of high-quality, timely and disaggregated data to ensure monitoring of progress for marginalized groups and people in vulnerable situations **to be disaggregated by geography, urban or rural status, income, gender, racial or ethnic group, sexual orientation, religion, language, disability, age, legal and migration status, and any other needed categories as determined on a country by country basis through participatory democratic input**

#### International actions to reduce inequalities among nations

- 10.8 establish measures at global level to reduce inequality among countries , **to reduce income inequality for metrics including per capita income, resource use, and carbon output to no more than a 10-fold difference between the richest and poorest nations**

- 10.10 improve regulation **and accountability** of global financial markets and institutions and strengthen their implementation, **transitioning to structural approaches and macroeconomic (fiscal and monetary) policies that generate increasing equality rather than inequalities between nations**
- 10.11 facilitate greater international mobility of labour **and ensure workers' rights for migrant workers** while mitigating brain drain

Targets to be added:

- ensure that every person has access to influencing public decision-making on economic and social benefits
- ensure that every person has access to influencing fundamental decisions within their place of work, including setting of equitable compensation levels
- transition to economic systems, structural approaches, and macroeconomic (fiscal and monetary) policies that generate increasing equality rather than inequalities
- by 2030, eliminate illicit financial flows, including money laundering, mispricing, transnational corruption and bribery, and eradicate cross-border tax evasion, improve and standardize financial reporting standards to increase transparency, including country-by-country reporting of corporate profits, full transparency of global financial transactions, bank holdings and deposits, and beneficial ownership, and increased stolen asset recovery
- by 2030, reform trade systems to promote equality among trade partners, recognizing the need for special and differential treatment of developing countries, and more equal distribution of profits along the value chain, by x% over y number of years
- by 2030, developed nations significantly reduce their water, carbon, cropland and raw material footprints, and developing nations in turn receive the financial and technology transfer required to achieve a good quality of life for all their citizens

#### **Additional interventions**

##### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030, all countries should have a national floor for social protection that includes income security, access to essential health care, and access to basic services
  - reduce the wealth gap between the bottom 40% and top 10% of the population by x%
  - increase by x% the amount of land owned and accessed by local communities and Indigenous Peoples, including the amount of land available to men and women for small-scale agriculture
  - eliminate indirect taxes and ensure income taxes progressive contributions that are scaled to income
  - increase the percentage of domestic revenue derived from taxation on capital
  - legislate for and provide a living wage for all workers, particularly workers in the informal sector, women workers, domestic workers, and migrant workers
  - by 2030, universal Income is secured to all people
  - Increase union membership density by x% by 2030
  - secure by 2020 meaningful participation in substantive international processes, and every international intergovernmental process is under the Human Rights framework; also, the UN and its intergovernmental agencies as well as other international organisms and processes are accountable in accordance with the highest framework of practice

- by 2030, eliminate tax evasion and elusion of the highest quintiles, as well as fiscal paradises, illicit financial flows and transfer pricing, and by 2020 financial flows from private sector are accountable in fiscal schemes in every country at national and local level
- introduce a global corporate tax floor
- by 2020 all nations have considered to sign and ratify every human rights conventions, especially considering removing reserves under “cultural and values” notions against human rights recognition, and their contents are harmonized to national and local laws by 2030
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for detailed analysis target by target.

***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Integration of proposed goal 10 into proposed goal 8, eliminating repetitions (e.g. targets 10.2, 10.3, 10.4 and 10.5).

***On behalf of the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group***

- Amendment to target:  
10.4. **Promote appropriately designed wage policies, including minimum living wages**, to address the decline of the share of labour income in GDP where relevant
- Target to be added:
  - ensure strong and functioning labour market institutions like minimum living wages, employment protection regulation, trade unions and collective bargaining

***On behalf of the Stakeholder Group on Ageing***

- Target to be added:  
10.5 **empower and promote the social and economic inclusion of the poor, the marginalised and people in vulnerable situations, including indigenous peoples, women, minorities, migrants, persons with disabilities, older persons, children and youth**

***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Target to be added:
  - increase by x% the amount of land owned and accessed by local communities, including the amount of land available to men and women for small-scale agriculture
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of Save the Children***

- Amendment to target:  
10.2 achieve and sustain income growth of the bottom 40% of the population that is higher than the national average through 2030 **and reduce income inequality by x%**

***On behalf of Christian Aid/CESR***

- Amendment to target:  
10.12 [include commitment to “forgive all odious debt”]

***On behalf of Unitarian Universalist***

- Amendment to target:  
10.1 by 2020, eliminate discriminatory laws, policies, and practices **based on immutable characteristics**

- 10.5 empower, promote, **and protect** the social, **political**, and economic inclusion **and rights** of the poor, the marginalized and people in vulnerable situations, including indigenous peoples, women, **LGBTQ persons**, minorities, migrants, persons with disabilities, older persons and children and youth
- 10.6 promote and respect cultural diversity **as a vehicle for development in accordance with the Universal Declaration of Human Rights**
- Target to be added:
    - create, promote, and sustain adequate social protection measures for the poor, the marginalized and people in most vulnerable situations, including LGBTQ persons, indigenous peoples, women, minorities, migrants, persons with disabilities, older persons, and children and youth with a relevant indicator to monitor progress and implementation of those social protection measures.

## **Proposed goal 11.**

### **Build inclusive, safe and sustainable cities and human settlements**

*On behalf of the Major Group of Children and Youth, the Women's Major Group, the NGO's Major Group, the Local Authorities Major Group, Communitas Coalition, Slocat, Global Ecovillage Network and Commons Cluster*

Amendments to targets:

- 11.1 by 2030, ensure universal access to adequate, **equitable, sustainable** and affordable housing and basic services **and secure land tenure** for all, and eliminate slum-like conditions everywhere **through a participatory approach**
- 11.2 by 2030, provide access to safe, affordable, accessible and sustainable **low carbon** transport for all, expand public transport, and improve **mobility and** road safety **with particular attention to women and children, the poor, and the most marginalized**
- 11.3 **by 2030**, enhance capacities for **governments of all levels for participatory** integrated and sustainable human settlement planning and management for all, particularly developing countries
- 11.4 strengthen positive economic and social links, **including transport services**, between cities and peri-urban and rural areas
- 11.5 by 2030, reduce the **ecological footprint and** environmental impacts of cities and improve the quality of environment ~~in cities~~ **in all human settlements**
- 11.6 by 2020, increase by x% the number of human settlements adopting and implementing **participatory** policies and plans **that promote resource-efficiency, towards** resilience, and adaptation to climate change and natural **and human-induced** disasters
- 11.7 enhance social cohesion and personal security, and ensure universal access to inclusive, **green** and safe public spaces with particular attention given to women and children, the poor, and the most marginalized

Target to be added:

- **by 2020, implement social and environmental safeguards, especially related to urban infrastructure development and industrialization, with a sound regulatory and accountability framework for public-private partnerships encouraging performance-based contracting meeting broad sustainable development objectives**

#### **Additional interventions**

***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Targets to be added:
  - Increase and ensure transparent and accountable investment and public financing for low-carbon urban development and sustainable urban infrastructure
  - Increase and ensure transparent and accountable investment and public financing in access to safe, harassment-free and affordable multi-modal transport that facilitates mobility and inclusion, and shift to public transport/mass transit and safe cycling and pedestrian facilities.
  - Implement social and environmental safeguards, especially related to urban infrastructure development and industrialization, with a strict regulatory and accountability framework for private-public partnerships

- Decentralize decision-making related to urban development and resources
- Amendments to targets: please refer to this link for detailed analysis target by target.

***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 11.1 ~~by 2030, ensure universal access to adequate and affordable housing and basic services for all, and eliminate slum-like conditions everywhere~~ **expand by x% access to adequate and affordable housing and basic services for all, and reduce slum-like conditions where they exist**
  - 11.3 **by 2030**, enhance capacities for integrated and sustainable human settlement planning and management ~~for all, particularly developing countries~~
  - 11.9 **by 2030, establish measures to** protect and safeguard the world's cultural and natural heritage
- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030, reduce the ecological footprints of cities by x%
  - by 2020, increase by x% the number of human settlements adopting and implementing policies and plans towards resilience and adaptation to climate change and natural disasters
  - by 2030 ensure that all cities are accessible and offer opportunities to persons with disabilities
- Target to be excluded: 11.8

***On behalf of the Science and Technology Major Group***

- Rewording of goal:
  - Build inclusive, safe, **productive** and sustainable cities and human settlements

***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Targets to be added:
  - foster the development of an integrated multi-sectoral community-based approach to sustainable rural communities, towns and villages and in impoverished urban neighbourhoods, to ensure that all people's basic human needs are met.
  - eliminate gender-based violence and all types of discrimination in any type of human settlement.
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport***

- Amendment to target:
  - 11.2 by 2030, provide access to safe, affordable, accessible and sustainable transport for all, expand public transport and improve road safety **and transport sector efficiency**
  - 11.4 strengthen positive economic, **transport** and social links **and services** between cities and peri-urban and rural areas

## **Proposed goal 12.**

### Promote sustainable consumption and production patterns

*On behalf of the NGO's Major Group, the Children and Youth Major Group, the Women's Major Group, Sustainable World Initiative, Beyond 2015 and WECF International*

Amendments to targets:

- 12.1 **by 2020 achieve** ~~Time-bound~~ effective implementation of the 10-Year Framework of Programmes (10YFP) **in support of regional and national initiatives to accelerate the shift towards** sustainable consumption and production, **promoting social and economic development within the carrying capacities of ecosystems**
- 12.2 **by 2020, at the latest, governments, businesses and stakeholders at all levels have taken steps to achieve or have implemented plans for sustainable production and consumption and have kept the impacts of use of natural resources well within safe ecological limits.**
- 12.3 **by 2030** ~~significantly improve the~~ **achieve radically improved** resource **and energy** efficiency of economic activities **in all sectors** and decouple economic growth from environmental degradation, ~~with all countries taking action, developed countries taking the lead, and developing countries following a similar pattern taking into account their development needs and capabilities~~ **significantly reducing water, carbon, cropland and raw material footprints per unit of GDP while reducing waste and increasing reuse and recycling**
- 12.4 **by 2030** ~~promote sound~~ **achieve the sustainable** management of chemicals **throughout their life cycle, including** of hazardous waste in accordance with agreed international frameworks, ~~and by 2030 significantly reduce the releases of chemicals and hazardous wastes to air, water and soil,~~ **to eliminate significant adverse effects on human health and the environment**
- 12.7 ~~by 2030 redouble efforts to create a culture of~~ **ensure people everywhere have the information and understanding needed to live** sustainable lifestyles, ~~including through education, awareness raising, sustainability~~ **and avoid unsustainable consumption, including through school curricula, information accompanying** products and services, **awareness raising and** policies and incentives
- 12.11 ~~by 2020 increase the share of sustainable products and services in public~~ **Governments, local governments and major public services have sustainable** procurement, ~~including through competitive and transparent procurement processes~~ **policies in place for services and infrastructure, minimizing environmental damage**

#### **Additional interventions**

##### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Targets to be added:
  - by 2020 ensure the implementation of plans for sustainable production and consumption at national and local levels within the carrying capacity of ecosystems
  - create incentives for sustainable tourism and guarantee the reduction of social and environmental negative impacts associated with travel and tourism
  - by 2030, consolidate a UN agency / institution responsible for monitoring corporate/private sector activities on their social and environmental responsibility.
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target.

#### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 12.1 ~~timebound~~ **by 2030** effective implementation of the 10-Year Framework of Programmes on sustainable consumption and production (10YFP)
  - 12.2 **by 2030 achieve sustainable management and efficient use of natural resources** ~~to enhance human welfare within the carrying capacity of ecosystems~~
  - 12.4 promote sound management of chemicals and hazardous waste in accordance with agreed international frameworks ~~and by 2030 significantly reduce the releases of chemicals and hazardous wastes to air, water and soil~~
  - 12.5 **by 2030 improve the resource productivity of economic activities by x%, including through encouraging more sustainable practices throughout relevant supply chains** ~~reduce by x% per capita waste through prevention, reduction, recycling and reuse~~
  - 12.6 by 2030 redouble efforts to raise awareness of more sustainable lifestyles, including systematic encouragement and rewarding of provision of sustainability information on products and services ~~at least halve per capita food waste at retail and consumer level, particularly in developed countries and countries with high per capita food waste~~
  - 12.9 by 2030 increase by x% **(a level appropriate to national circumstances)** the number of companies, ~~especially~~ **including** publicly listed ~~and large companies,~~ **privately held, and state owned, voluntarily** reporting on corporate social and environmental responsibility, including integrated reporting

#### ***On behalf of NGO's Major Group, Sustainable World Initiative and M8***

- Amendment to target:
  - 12.2 by 2020, at the latest, governments, businesses and stakeholders at all levels have taken steps to achieve or have implemented plans for sustainable production and consumption and have kept the impacts of use of natural resources well within safe ecological limits **as guided by the practice of natural resource accounting.**

#### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Target to be added:
  - 12.12 by 2030, incorporate externalities into production models and pricing, through full cost accounting, measuring the environmental footprint of production and consumption, and taxing of externalities
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to this link for a detailed analysis target by target

#### ***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Target to be added:
  - measurement of global footprints of consumption and production, for example in terms of water, raw materials, land use and greenhouse gas emissions, with a view to reducing by x% by 2030
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

#### ***On behalf of BioRegional, Beyond2015, Institute for Global Environmental Strategies and Bond for International Development***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 12.2 **By 2020, at the latest, governments, businesses and stakeholders at all levels have taken steps to achieve or have implemented plans for sustainable production and consumption and have kept the impacts of use of natural resources well within safe ecological limits.**  
~~By 2030 achieve sustainable management and efficient use of natural resources to enhance human welfare within the carrying capacity of ecosystems.~~

- 12.3 ~~significantly improve the~~ **achieve radically improved resource and energy** efficiencies of economic activities **in all sectors** and decouple economic growth from environmental degradation, ~~with all countries taking action, developed countries taking the lead, and developing countries following a similar pattern taking into account their development needs and capabilities~~ **significantly reducing water, carbon, cropland and raw material footprints per unit of GDP while reducing waste and increasing reuse and recycling**
- 12.4 ~~by 2030 promote sound~~ **achieve the sustainable** management of chemicals **throughout their life cycle, including** and hazardous waste in accordance with agreed international frameworks ~~and by 2030 significantly reduce the releases of chemicals and hazardous wastes to air, water and soil,~~ **to eliminate significant adverse effects on human health and the environment**
- 12.7 ~~by 2030, redouble efforts to create a culture of~~ **ensure people everywhere have the information and understanding needed to live** sustainable lifestyles including through education, awareness raising, sustainability **and avoid unsustainable consumption, including through school curricula, information accompanying products and services, awareness raising and** policies and incentives
- 12.11 ~~by 2030~~ **by 2020** increase the share of sustainable products and services in public **Governments, local governments and major public services have sustainable** procurement, including through competitive and transparent procurement processes **policies in place for services and infrastructure, minimising environmental damage**

### **Proposed goal 13.**

Promote actions at all levels to address climate change / Build a climate change goal based on the outcome of COP21 of the UNFCCC

*On behalf of the NGO's Major Groups, the Major Group for Children and Youth, the Women's Major Group, Beyond 2015, Climate Action Network International, the Global Foundation for Democracy and Development and WECF International*

Rewording of goal to:

- ~~Promote actions at all levels to~~ **Effectively** address climate change **at all levels** / ~~Build a climate change goal based on the outcome of COP21 of the UNFCCC~~

Amendments to targets:

- 13.1 hold the increase in global average temperature below a **1.5°C** rise ~~in accordance with international agreements~~ **and ensure greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions peak before 2020 and then rapidly decline in accordance with equity and the principle of CBDR**
- 13.2 build resilience and adaptive capacity, **at all levels**, to climate induced hazards **and slow-onset climate events, especially with regard to marginalised groups and vulnerable communities** ~~at vulnerable countries~~
- 13.3 by 2020 ~~integrate~~ **develop and implement gender-responsive actions** for climate change adaptation and mitigation strategies **and integrate** into **existing policy frameworks, local and national sustainable** development plans and poverty reduction strategies
- 13.4 by 2020 ~~introduce~~ **operationalize** instruments and incentives ~~for~~ **to rapidly reduce investment in fossil fuels and to increase public financing, transfer of and domestic support for socially and ecologically sound technology** and investments in low-carbon solutions in all relevant sectors
- 13.5 improve education, awareness raising and human and institutional capacity, **integrating traditional knowledge** on climate change impact reduction and **promote** early warning systems

### **Additional interventions**

#### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Targets to be added:
  - review and modify intellectual property rights and national, regional and international trade agreements to allow the full development and utilization of safe, appropriate, ecologically and socially sound technologies to support a transition from a carbon intensive society to low-carbon pathways.
  - ensure full actualization and disbursement of adequate, appropriate and new climate finance ensuring gender-sensitive social and environmental safeguards
  - economic activities incompatible with planetary boundaries are urgently phased out and there is adequate redress of damage based on polluter pays principle
  - strengthen mechanisms and provide adequate resources to ensure women's full and equal participation in climate change decision-making, planning and implementation at all levels
  - by 2020 ensure meaningful multi-stakeholder participation and decriminalize environmental and human rights defenders
  - ensure as off 2015 that climate technologies that can disrupt Earth cycles, such as geo-engineering, are not allowed to be tested in open field or deployed

- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 13.3 by 20xx integrate climate change adaptation and ~~mitigation strategies~~ **and emission reductions** into development plans and poverty reduction strategies
  - 13.5 **by 2030** improve education **and** awareness raising ~~and human and institutional capacity~~ on climate change ~~impact reduction and early warning~~
- Target to be added:
  - by 2030 provide enabling frameworks, instruments and incentives for investments in low-carbon solutions in infrastructure, energy, technology, industry and transport

***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Targets to be added:
  - reduce use of fossil fuel and greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs) in developed countries and in developing economies by having an appropriate sharing of burden and atmospheric space based on the principles of equity, CBDR and future responsibilities.
  - enhance and ensure cooperation of developed countries in mitigation and adaptation in developing and poor countries and SIDS, through equitable technology transfer and financial assistance
  - review and modify intellectual property rights and national, regional and international trade agreements to allow the full development and utilization of safe, appropriate, ecologically and socially sound technologies that support a transition from a carbon intensive society
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

## **Proposed goal 14.**

Attain conservation and sustainable use of marine resources, oceans and seas

*On behalf of WWF, The Pew Charitable Trusts, the High Seas Alliance (29 NGOs & IUCN), the Global Ocean Forum, Beyond 2015 and WECF International*

Amendments to targets:

- 14.1 by **2020**, reduce by **50%**, **prevent and control** marine pollution of all kinds, including from land-based activities
- 14.2 by 2020, sustainably **and equitably** manage, restore and protect **coastal and** marine ecosystems from **adverse impacts, especially areas of particular importance for fish stocks, biodiversity and ecosystem services** destruction, including by strengthening their resilience to **human impact including climate change**, and supporting relevant scientific research
- 14.3 **by 2020, ensure ecosystem resilience in the face of ocean acidification and** address and prevent further ocean acidification
- 14.4 **immediately** ~~by 2020, effectively regulate harvesting and end overfishing to restore and maintain by 2030 fish stocks to ecologically safe levels~~ **above those** that can produce maximum sustainable yield, **manage fish stocks using the ecosystem approach, and, by 2020, end overfishing**
- 14.5 support sustainable small-scale fisheries and aquaculture, including by providing equitable access of small-scale and artisanal fishers to fisheries and markets **and creating an enabling environment for community-based fisheries management**
- 14.6 **by 2020** ensure the full implementation of existing regional and international regimes for managing oceans and seas by their state parties
- 14.7 ~~by 2020,~~ **take immediate action to** eliminate illegal, unreported and unregulated (IUU) fishing and destructive fishing practices
- 14.8 by 2020, conserve at least **20%** of coastal and marine areas, ~~including through establishing~~ effectively managed **and ecologically representative** marine protected areas **and other effective area-based measures, within and beyond areas of national jurisdiction**, consistent with international law and based on best available scientific information
- 14.10 by **2020**, increase the economic returns to SIDS and LDCs from the sustainable development of coastal and marine resources ~~from~~ within their jurisdictions, **as well as equitable access to and benefit sharing from resources in areas beyond national jurisdiction**
- 14.11 implement integrated and participatory coastal management **plans** to increase resilience of coastal ecosystems

## **Additional interventions**

### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Target to be added:
  - As of 2015, impose a precautionary moratorium on experimental technology including deep-sea mining, to ensure no irreversible harm to oceans including increased ocean acidification and biodiversity loss
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 14.1 by 2030, reduce by x% marine pollution of all kinds, including from land-based activities and responsive to scientific findings by 2030, reduce by x% marine pollution of all kinds, including from land-based activities **and responsive to scientific findings**
  - 14.2 by 2020, **restore**, sustainably manage, restore and protect marine ecosystems from destruction, including by ~~strengthening their resilience, and support relevant scientific research~~ **halting and preventing ocean acidification**
  - 14.5 **by 2030** support sustainable small-scale fisheries and aquaculture, including by providing equitable access of small-scale and artisanal fishers to fisheries and markets
  - 14.6 **develop and** ensure the full implementation of existing regional and international ~~regimes for managing~~ **agreements governing** oceans and seas ~~by their state parties including for resources in areas beyond national jurisdictions~~
  - 14.8 by 2020, ~~conserve at least 10% of coastal and marine areas, including through establishing effectively managed~~ **establish** marine protected areas, consistent with international law and based on best available scientific information
  - 14.9 by 2020, eliminate subsidies which contribute to overcapacity and overfishing, ~~and refrain from introducing new such subsidies, taking into account the need of developing countries, notably least developed countries and SIDS~~
- Target to be excluded: 14.3, 14.11

### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to this link for a detailed analysis target by target

### ***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Targets to be added:
  - promote a stable, multilateral and equitable financial system, by establishing fully representative and participatory international institutions to regulate systemically important international banks and rating agencies, markets for commodity derivatives and international capital flows.
  - ensure international trade at multilateral, bilateral and other levels work to the benefit of developing countries and to help meet their development objectives by ensuring policy space and that it creates opportunities for all, and in particular does not harm any, especially marginalised constituencies including women, small farmers, producers and businesses, youth, indigenous peoples, the elderly and others.
  - ensure debt sustainability, debt restructuring and debt relief. Ensure that debt sustainability analyses by international financial institutions and their policy recommendations are consistent with the attainment of multilaterally agreed SDGs
  - developed countries recommit to allocating at least 0,07% of GDP to poverty eradication and implementation of the SDGs post2015 agenda

- ensure equitable access of developing countries to environmentally sound, socially beneficial and economically productive technologies for meeting development objectives which may require lifting intellectual property barriers globally
- ensure that global agreements do not allow infringement by corporate actors on human rights and on national policy space that blocks rights-based, development oriented social, economic and environmental policies and that there are multilateral mechanisms that can subject investors and transnational corporations to legally binding norms and standards
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

## **Proposed goal 15.**

### Protect and restore terrestrial ecosystems and halt all biodiversity loss

*On behalf of the Women's Major Group, the NGO's Major Group, Beyond 2015, WWF, Global Forest Coalitions, World Animal Protection and WECF International*

Amendments to targets:

- 15.2 by 2020 ensure conservation and sustainable use of ecosystems, with particular attention to wetlands **and forests**, including through **formal protection of 17% of ecosystems and** restoration of at least 15 per cent of degraded ecosystems
- 15.4 by 2030, ensure the implementation of sustainable management of all types of ~~forests and of mountain~~ ecosystems
- 15.5 by 2030 ~~reverse the loss of and enhance~~ **halt forest degradation cover worldwide, and** increase **restoration and** reforestation by x%, including by providing adequate incentives for developing countries **and with respect to the rights of local communities**
- 15.6 by 2030, halt ~~and prevent~~ land degradation, reclaim land affected by **pollution, and** desertification ~~and drought~~, and improve **natural soil fertility and production capacity** ~~land productivity and soil quality~~
- 15.7 ensure **transparent, accountable participation in the governance and management of natural resources and the** fair and equitable sharing of benefits arising from the **sustainable** utilization of genetic resources
- 15.8 end poaching and trafficking of **wildlife, including** endangered species, and end demand and supply of illegal wildlife products
- 15.9 introduce measures to **manage, control** ~~prevent the introduction~~ and significantly reduce the impact of invasive alien species on land and water ecosystems, ~~and by 2020 control or eliminate the priority invasive species~~
- 15.10 ensure free prior informed consent of indigenous peoples and local communities in decision making and natural resources management, and promote the use of their traditional knowledge **and respect for customary rights**
- 15.11 **recognize and respect the natural intangible or common heritage of the Earth and** integrate natural resources and biodiversity values into national and local planning, development processes, and accounts

#### **Additional interventions**

***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Target to be added:
  - by 2020, halting land degradation and land grabbing including through the recognition of indigenous and community conserved territories and areas (ICCAs) and other community-driven land conservation restoration initiatives with full respect of the human rights framework and gender equality
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

#### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendments to targets:
  - 15.1 by 2030, **enact policies to** halt the loss of all biodiversity, and protect and prevent the extinction of threatened species
  - 15.2 by 2020, ensure conservation and sustainable use of ecosystems, ~~with particular attention to wetlands~~, including through ~~restoration of at least 15 per cent of degraded ecosystems~~ **restoration of degraded critical ecosystems**
  - 15.3 **by 2030** maintain genetic diversity (**plant and animal**) of ~~both cultivated plants, farmed species and domesticated animals and their wild relatives~~ including through ~~effective cooperation of national institutions~~
  - 15.4 by 2030, ensure the implementation of sustainable management of all types of forests and of mountain ecosystems, halting deforestation and increasing reforestation by x% by 2030, ensure ~~the implementation of sustainable management of all types of forests and of mountain ecosystems~~, **halting deforestation and increasing reforestation by x%**
  - 15.8 end poaching and trafficking of endangered species, ~~and end demand and supply of illegal wildlife products~~
  - 15.10 ensure free prior informed consent of indigenous peoples and local communities in decision making, **and promote** ~~and natural resources management, and promote the use of their traditional knowledge~~ **of indigenous peoples**
- Target to be added:
  - by 2030, achieve a land degradation neutral world
- Targets to be excluded: 15.5, 15.6, 15.7, 15.9, 15.11

#### ***On behalf of the Indigenous Peoples Major Group***

- Reinstate target:
  - ensure inclusion of indigenous and local communities in decision making, and promote traditional knowledge of indigenous peoples

#### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Targets to be added:
  - 15.12 ensure transparency, accountability and meaningful participation in the governance and equitable sharing of natural resources, including transparency over and participation in decision-making in natural resource use, access to environment information, equitable access to resources
  - 15.13 immediate full implementation of existing international commitments and agreements related to biodiversity, natural resources, environment and climate change
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

#### ***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

## **Proposed goal 16.**

Achieve peaceful and inclusive societies, rule of law, effective and capable institutions

*On behalf of Major Group Children and Youth, NGO Major Group, WFNA, International Federation of Library Associations, Beyond Access, Article 19, Development Initiatives, CIVICUS, Global Integrity, Transparency and Accountability International, Center for American Progress and InterAction*

Amendments to targets:

### Fostering peaceful and inclusive societies

- 16.1 ~~by 2030, reduce levels of violence and related death rate by x%~~ **the number of violent deaths per 100,000 and reduce the number of people from all social groups affected by violence**
- 16.2 ~~by 2030 end abuse, exploitation and violence against children~~ **and young people**
- 16.3 ~~by 2030, reduce illicit financial flows by x% and reduce money laundering and all forms of organized crime including human trafficking and illicit trade in arms, drugs and wildlife~~ **significantly reduce international stresses that drive conflict, including irresponsible trade in arms and conflict commodities and the violent impact of drug trafficking** [wildlife is already included in goal 15 – target should be moved there]
- 16.8 ~~strengthen mechanisms for formal and non-formal dispute resolution at all levels~~ **by 2030, tensions, grievances and disputes within society are being resolved peacefully and inclusively**
- 16.10 ~~enhance the capacity, professionalism and accountability of the security forces, police and judiciary~~ **by 2030, people from all social groups feel safe and have confidence in security provision**

### Rule of law, effective and capable institutions

- 16.11 ~~develop effective, accountable and transparent public institutions at all levels~~ **by 2030, ensure that both public and private institutions are responsive and accountable to citizens**
- 16.14 ~~by 2020 improve public access to information and government data, including on public finance management, public procurement and on the implementation of national development plans~~ **by 2020, establish and implement effective regimes for public access to information and government data**
- 16.16 ~~by 2030 establish and implement effective regimes to decrease and provide accountability for corruption and bribery in all its forms and at all levels,~~ **and establish and implement mechanisms to reduce bribery and corruption by X% and ensure that all those involved are held accountable**
- 16.17 ~~promote freedom of media, association and speech~~ **by 2020, ensure legal frameworks guarantee freedom of media, association, assembly, and expression**

Targets to be excluded: 16.5, 16.6 [should be merged with 16.4], 16.7 [fits better as an indicator under target 16.1], 16.9 [only reinstate if measured globally], 16.15 [merge with 16.11]

## **Additional interventions**

### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030, reduce military spending by x% and allocate it to sustainable development
  - ensure by 2030 parity in participation of women in decision making on conflict resolution at all levels
  - by 2020 every country has a national legal framework that is in line with international human rights norms and standards
  - ensure by 2020 increased openness of state and business budgets and transaction to public scrutiny including the natural resource and extractives sector
- Amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for detailed analysis target by target.

### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Rewording of goal: "Achieve ~~peaceful~~ **stable** and inclusive societies, rule of law, effective and capable institutions"
- Amendment to target:
  - 16.2 by 2030 reduce ~~levels of violence and related~~ **violent deaths per 100,000 rate** by x% **and eliminate all forms of violence against women and children**
  - 16.11 by 2030 develop effective, **efficient**, accountable and transparent public institutions at all levels
  - 16.13 by 2020 provide **public services for all, including** legal identity ~~for all, and including~~ birth registrations
  - 16.14 by 2020 improve public access to information **consistent with international obligations and protocols** and government data, including on public finance management, public procurement and on the implementation of national development plans
- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030, decrease by x% corruption in all its forms, including bribery and illicit financial flows
  - by 2030 provide equal access to independent and responsive justice systems including related to property and tenure rights, employment, business, taxation, trade and finance
  - by 2030 remove unnecessary restrictions of freedom of media, association, religion and speech
- Targets to be excluded: 16.5 and 16.8 [absorbed by 16.2], 16.4 [included in 16.11], 16.12, 16.16 and 16.17

### ***On behalf of the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group***

- Amendment to target:
  - 16.4. by 2030 increase inclusive, participatory and representative decision-making and **social dialogue** at all levels, taking into consideration the interests of present and future generations

### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030 ensure the secure enjoyment of basic civil and political rights by all, including the recognition and enforcement of cultural and political rights for specific political and cultural minorities and elimination of every legal and socio-cultural base for discrimination
  - by 2030, guarantee and enable active and meaningful participation of all people without fear, especially people in poverty and marginalisation and civil society in the design, implementation and monitoring of public policies and programs from local to national to global levels, especially over the generation and use of public resources and the delivery of essential services
  - by 2030, people from all social groups feel safe and have confidence in security provision
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of the Child Fund Alliance, Plan, Unicef, SOS Children's Villages, Save the Children, World Vision and SRSF on Violence against Children***

- "Open, inclusive and accountable governance with rule of law, effective and capable institutions" as title of separate goal.
- Amendment to target:
  - 16.1 by 2030 reduce levels of violence, **violent injuries** and related deaths by x%
  - 16.2 by 2030 end **all forms of abuse, neglect, exploitation and violence against children in all settings and ensure that they thrive in a safe family environment**
  - 16.5 by 2020 build necessary capacities of **national**, sub-national and local governments for fostering **non-violent**, peaceful and inclusive societies, **including by strengthening child protection systems**
  - 16.13 by 2020 provide legal identity for all, including **free and universal** birth registration

***On behalf of Christian Aid/CESR***

- Amendment to target:
  - 16.3 by 2030, **end tax evasion and reduce illicit financial flows related to trade mis-invoicing by x%**
  - 16.4 **ensure meaningful participation of all people, in particular the most disadvantaged, in the design, implementation and monitoring of public policies at all levels, including fiscal policies, in consideration of present and future generations**
  - 16.12 by 2030, provide equal access for all to independent, effective, and responsive justice systems that respect due-process rights, **and guarantee public and judicial oversight over public policies, including over the generation and use of public resources**

## **Proposed goal 17.**

### Strengthen and enhance the means of implementation and global partnership for sustainable development

*On behalf of the Major Group for Children and Youth, the Women's Major Group, Psychology Coalition and Commons Cluster*

Proposal: one key overarching common target with five overarching targets:

#### **Key overarching common target:**

Establish appropriate monitoring, accountability and evaluation mechanisms for the whole SDG framework and ensure that all governments participate in implementing and reviewing the SDGs and that people can participate in holding governments, individuals and all other stakeholders - especially the private sector – accountable [adaptation of target 17.43]

#### **Overarching targets:**

1. International Finance and Trade Regimes: containing targets on fair market access for the poorest - promoting decent work and higher value-added in developing countries and LDCs, and allowing low-income countries to develop competitive sectors, R&D, and permitting pro-poor agricultural price subsidies
2. Finance for Development: containing targets on stable, multilateral and equitable financial system, fully representative and participatory international institutions to regulate systemically important international banks and rating agencies, markets for commodity derivatives and international capital flows, targets on combating illicit financial flows (17.46), tax and natural resource revenue transparency (17.28), taxation of all international financial speculative transactions, progressive taxation systems, internationally need regional harmonization of fiscal and monetary policy to avoid undercutting between neighbour countries, international resource mobilization through global taxation schemes are crucial means of implementation
3. Technology and R&D: containing targets on a UN Global Technology Facilitation Mechanism (17.32), a multilateral, participatory, technology assessment mechanism; lifting intellectual property barriers and ensuring equitable access to technologies for developing countries; enabling international and regional cooperation in knowledge, innovation and technology transfer through public means
4. Capacity Building
5. Global Partnership: deletion of PPPs from 17.20; need for targets which ensure the public's role in management and governance (binding multilateral instrument on transnational corporations at the UN). Target on participatory creation of plans to implement the goals at regional, national and local levels.

*On behalf of the Women's Major Group, the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group and WECF International*

Targets to be added regarding proposed Goal 1

- establish a Global Mechanism on Social Protection to ensure adequate funding and support for the implementation of Social Protection Floors in all countries
- develop policy frameworks to design and implement social protection floors which include ratification and implementation of ILO Convention 102 on social security, ILO Recommendation No 202 on SPFs, and x% spending on social protection as a percentage of GDP
- provide technical support and financial assistance to developing countries for the design and implementation of social protection systems, in particular social protection floors, including governance structure, benefits and service delivery, identification of beneficiaries and financing mechanisms.

Amendments to target regarding proposed Goal 1:

17.9 increase investment in rural infrastructure, agricultural research, technology development, institutions and capacity building ~~in developing countries to enhance agricultural productive capacity~~ **in line with the targets under Goal 2**, particularly in countries that are net food importers

Targets to be added regarding proposed Goal 4:

- by 2020, increase the recruitment, development, training and retention of teachers by x% and education support personnel by y% in developing countries, especially in LDCs
- by 2030, all countries allocate at least 4-6% of their GDP or at least 15-20% of their public expenditure to education, prioritizing groups most in need; and strengthen financial cooperation for education, prioritizing countries most in need

Amendments to target regarding proposed Goal 4:

17.15 by 2020 expand by x% globally the number of scholarships for students from developing countries to enroll in higher education programs **nationally, as well as** in developed countries and other developing countries, with a particular **attention to women, the poor, the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations, and a** focus on science, engineering, health, economics, finance, management and sustainable development

Targets to replace current targets regarding proposed Goal 7:

- Redirect fossil fuel subsidies to fund the development of affordable socially and environmentally sound and sustainable energy
- Assess industries or companies for the full costs of environmental reparations incurred by individuals, communities and governments, and use those funds to develop sustainable community based energy sources

Targets to be added regarding proposed Goal 8:

- promote comprehensive activation strategies to facilitate young people's school-to-work transition, in line with the ILO 2012 Call for action and the Global Strategy on Youth Employment
- promote and respect international labor standards
- enhance social dialogue and participation of the social partners in the formulation, implementation and monitoring of sustainable development policies, including through compliance with relevant ILO conventions like C081 and C129

Targets to be amended regarding proposed Goal 9:

- 17.31 promote **fair access to the whole technological cycle**, transfer and dissemination of clean and environmentally sound technologies to developing countries including through the possible implementation of a UN global technology facilitation mechanism, and encourage the full use of TRIPs flexibilities
- 17.31bis promote a multilateral, participatory technology assessment mechanism to offer, particularly to developing countries, a rigorous evaluation of the potential social, economic, ecological and health risks and benefits of a specific technology**
- 17.33 build science, technology and innovation capacity in developing countries, including to undertake technology **qualitative** assessment and research, development and adaptation of clean, **social** and environmentally sound technologies
- 17.33bis promote indigenous technology development and enhance domestic innovation in developing countries, with particular emphasis on women's participation in the whole cycle of technological development and assessment.**

Targets to be added regarding proposed Goal 12:

- 17.38 enhance international cooperation with developed countries taking the lead in implementing SCP, including through strengthening developing countries' scientific and technological capacities to move towards more sustainable patterns of consumption and production
- 17.39 establish and effectively implement a multilateral code of conduct for multinational corporations to secure social and environmental responsibility and accountability

Targets to be added regarding proposed Goal 13:

- 13.4 bis review and modify intellectual property rights and national, regional and international trade agreements to allow the full development and utilization of safe, appropriate, ecologically and socially sound technologies to support a transition from a carbon intensive society to low-carbon pathways.
- 13.5 bis ensure full actualization and disbursement of adequate, appropriate and new climate finance ensuring gender-sensitive social and environmental safeguards
- 13.5 ter economic activities incompatible with planetary boundaries are urgently phased out and there is adequate redress of damage based on polluter pays principle
- 13.5 quat Strengthen mechanisms and provide adequate resources to ensure women's full and equal participation in climate change decision-making, planning and implementation at all levels
- 13.5 quint by 2020 ensure meaningful multi-stakeholder participation and decriminalize environmental and human rights defenders

13.6 Ensure as of 2015 that climate technologies that can disrupt Earth cycles, such as geo-engineering, are not allowed to be tested in open field or deployed.

Targets to be added regarding proposed Goal 15:

- Further increase international financial support to biodiversity conservation from public sources, to phase out and reform perverse incentives that might be harmful to biodiversity in line with Aichi target 3 and to put in place incentives and other support schemes that enable local communities, Indigenous Peoples, women, small farmers, fisherfolk, pastoralists and other groups directly dependent on biodiversity to sustain and strengthen existing conservation and sustainable use practices and related traditional knowledge.

Targets to be added regarding proposed Goal 16:

- ensure global agreement on the reallocation of military spending to gender-equitable social development
- reduce military spending by at least 50% by 2030 for the 15 biggest military spenders and by 30% for all other countries and reallocate these resources to gender equitable sustainable development

#### Cluster on proposed Goal 2

*On behalf of the NGO's Major Group, the Women's Major Group, the Indigenous Peoples' Major Group, the Children and Youth Major Group and the Food and Agriculture Cluster of the NGO's Major Group*

- Targets to be added:
  - 17.10 **enhance support to developing countries, especially LDCs and SIDS, in implementing capacity building programmes and assessments in support of national plans for agriculture**
  - 17.11 **limit the usage of human-edible food crops for animal feed at x%**

#### Cluster on proposed Goal 4

*On behalf of the Major Group for Workers and Trade Unions, the Women's Major Group, the Children and Youth Major Group and the Indigenous Peoples' Major Group*

- Amendment to target:
  - 17.15 by 2020 expand by x% globally the number of scholarships for students from developing countries to enrol in higher education programmes **nationally, as well as** in developed countries and other developing countries, with a particular **attention to women, racial/ethnic minorities and the poor, the most marginalized and people in vulnerable situations, and a** focus on science, engineering, health, economics, finance, management, and sustainable development
- Targets to be added:
  1. By 2030, all countries allocate at least 4-6% of their Gross Domestic Product (GDP) or at least 15-20% of their public expenditure to education and lifelong learning, prioritizing groups most in need; and strengthen financial cooperation for education, prioritizing countries most in need.
  2. By 2030, a minimum of 20% of donor aid budgets is allocated to education, with spending targeted towards the most disadvantaged countries and areas.

3. By 2020, increase the recruitment, development and training and retention of teachers by x% and education support personnel by y% in developing countries, especially in LDCs.
4. Citizens, represented through formal civil society structures, are fully informed of and engaged in the development and monitoring of education sector policies and programmes, at school, sub-national and national level

#### Cluster on proposed Goal 5

*On behalf of the Major Group for Children and Youth, the Women's Major Group, the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group and the NGO's Major Group*

- Amendment to target:
  - 17.17 **secure and** increase financial **public** resources and services across all sectors to achieve gender equality, empowerment of women, and the realization and enjoyment of women's and girls' human rights
- Targets to be added:
  - by 2030, all countries monitor and evaluate the impact of all economic decision making on gender equality and take corrective action to prevent discriminatory impacts
  - as off 2015 latest, build capacity and allocate sufficient resources at all levels to effectively address gender differential and have achieved by 2030 gender equality in all areas
  - implement by 2020 gender-budgeting in public financial management
  - as off 2015 ensure financial and other support for women's and feminists groups and organisations to contribute to achieving gender equality and women and girls' human rights

#### Cluster on Proposed Goal 6

*On behalf of the Women's Major Group, Blue Planet Project, tge Mining Working Group at the UN, End Water Poverty, WECF International and Temple of Understanding. Endorsed by the Indigenous Peoples' Major Group, the NGO's Major Group, the Children and Youth Major Group, the Workers and Trade Unions Major Group, ETC Group, Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy, Food and Water Watch, Food and Water Europe, Ingenieria Sin Fronteras, Public Services International, Transnational Institute, WEDO, Sisters of Mercy, Loretto Community, Franciscans International*

- Targets to be added:
  1. Ensure public financing for universal access to public water and sanitation services
  2. Protect water and sanitation services from liberalization through loan conditionalities, trade agreements and investment treaties
  3. Recognize indigenous and community rights to empower frontline communities in the protection of watersheds
  4. Enable international and regional cooperation in knowledge and technology transfer through public-public partnerships

#### Cluster on Proposed Goal 12

*On behalf of the NGO's Major Group, the Children and Youth Major Group, the Women's Major Group and Beyond 2015*

- Amendment to target:
  - 17.38 **by 2020** enhance international cooperation with developed countries ~~taking the lead in implementing~~ **providing leadership in transitioning their own societies to**

sustainable consumption and production ~~patterns~~ **models** ~~including through strengthening developing countries' scientific and technological capacities to move towards more sustainable patterns of consumption and production~~ and providing support for countries in need to make their own transition, recognising their different capacities and capabilities

#### Cluster on Proposed Goal 13

*On behalf of the NGO's Major Groups, the Children & Youth Major Group, the Women's Major Group, Beyond 2015 and Climate Action Network International*

- Amendment to target:  
17.40 bis by 2020 review and modify intellectual property rights and national, regional and international trade agreements to allow the full development and utilization of safe, appropriate, ecologically and socially sound technologies to support a transition to low-carbon pathways.

#### Additional interventions

##### ***On behalf of the Women's Major Group***

- Targets to form proposed overall goal:
  - A. Finance: Promote a stable, multilateral and equitable financial system, by establishing fully representative and participatory international institutions to regulate systemically important international banks and rating agencies, markets for commodity derivatives and international capital flows
  - B. Trade: Ensure international trade at multilateral, bilateral and other levels work to the benefit of developing countries and to help meet their development objectives by ensuring policy space and that it creates opportunities for all, and in particular does not harm any, especially marginalised constituencies including women, small farmers, producers and businesses, youth, indigenous peoples, the elderly and others
  - C. Debt: ensure debt sustainability, debt restructuring and debt relief. Ensure that debt sustainability analyses by international financial institutions and their policy recommendations are consistent with the attainment of multilaterally agreed SDGs
  - D. ODA: Developed countries recommit to allocating at least 0,7% of GDP to poverty eradication and implementation of the SDGs post2015 agenda
  - E. Technology: Ensure equitable access of developing countries to environmentally sound, socially beneficial and economically productive technologies for meeting development objectives which may require lifting intellectual property barriers globally
  - F. Corporate Sector: Ensure that Global Agreements do not allow infringement by corporate actors on human rights and on national policy space that blocks rights-based, development oriented social, economic and environmental policies and that there are multi-lateral mechanisms that can subject investors and transnational corporations to legally binding norms and standards
- Targets to be added and amendments to targets: please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

##### ***On behalf of the Business and Industry Major Group***

- Amendment to target:  
17.8 improve regulation **per existing obligations** with strengthened implementation of financial institutions and financial markets, including food commodity markets, to ensure global financial stability and to ~~help dampen~~ **curb excessive** food price volatility

- 17.12 in ~~cooperation~~ **partnership** with **global stakeholders, including** pharmaceutical companies, **and responsible developing country government agencies, promote** ~~provide~~ access to affordable essential medicines in developing countries, and support developing countries' use of TRIPS flexibilities
- 17.31 promote transfer and dissemination of clean and environmentally sound technologies, to developing countries, ~~including through the possible implementation of a UN global technology facilitation mechanism,~~ **under mutually agreed terms through existing international obligations and future mechanisms,** and ~~encourage the full use of TRIPS flexibilities~~
- 17.33 17.33 build science, technology and innovation capacity in developing countries, including to undertake **science-based** technology assessment and research, development and adaptation of clean and environmentally sound technologies
- Targets to be excluded: 17.39 [see target 12.9]

#### ***On behalf of the Stakeholder Group on Ageing***

- Target to be added:
  - 17.36 **by 2020 substantially strengthen capacities for data collection and statistical analysis relevant to sustainable development with a focus on generating timely and high quality data disaggregated, as appropriate, by income, gender, age, race, ethnicity, and rural/urban location**
- In addition to this MOI target, all goals and targets, and particularly those including the language 'for all', must be supported by indicators that require the collection and analysis of data for people of all ages, with data disaggregated by sex and age, at a minimum.

#### ***On behalf of the Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport***

- Amendment to target:
  - 17.9 increase investment in rural infrastructure, **efficient and affordable transport**, agricultural research, technology development, institutions and capacity building in developing countries to enhance agricultural productive capacity **and logistics**, particularly in countries that are net food importers
  - 17.29 facilitate investments in developing countries in **resilient** infrastructure such as **safer roads, pedestrian and cycling infrastructure**, railways, ports, water supply and treatment, and ICT, **and introduce sound asset management practices**

#### ***On behalf of Beyond 2015***

- Targets to be added:
  - strengthen health systems infrastructure, services, and delivery mechanisms in developing countries, especially in LDCs
  - all countries progress towards allocating x % of GDP and x % of public expenditure to health care, including resources to empower people to actively promote their own health
  - all countries progress towards allocating 4-6 % of GDP and 15-20 % of public expenditure to education
  - increase financial resources for women's organisations
  - by 2030 increase budgets by x% to address human rights and gender equality issues in strategic planning frameworks of intergovernmental and national financial institutions
  - commit to the international fight against capital flight and tax evasion via tax havens.
  - develop capacity of local people to research their own realities, and develop strategies for responding effectively to problems in their communities and enable all people in particular poor and marginalized communities to obtain timely, quality, accessible, reliable and disaggregated information at all levels, in particular about what resources are available, how they are raised and spent and what they result in
  - ensure by 2030, financial resources, contribute fulfilling countries social, economic and cultural human rights obligations by increasing budgets by x% to address human rights and equality issues in strategic planning frameworks of intergovernmental and national financial institutions

- ensure transparency on implementation of SDGs and introduce indicators that reveal the income distribution e.g Gini, Palma etc.
- increase transparency of financial sector by introducing financial transaction taxes
- introduce new taxes and fees that respect the polluter pays principle
- ensure adequate new and additional public climate finance in line with the UNFCCC commitments
- ensure that at least 50% of all climate finance goes to adaptation and ensure adequate resources for the Adaptation Fund
- IFIs, governments and the private sector respect human rights and sustainable development, and are responsive and accountable to citizens
- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target

***On behalf of BioRegional, Beyond 2015, Institute for Global Environmental Strategies and Bond for International Development***

- Amendment to target:  
17.38 **By 2020** enhance international cooperation with developed countries ~~taking the lead in implementing~~ **providing leadership in transitioning their own societies to** sustainable consumption and production ~~patterns models including through strengthening developing countries' scientific and technological capacities to move towards more sustainable patterns of consumption and production~~ **and providing support for countries in need to make their own transition, recognising their different capacities and capabilities**

***On behalf of Christian Aid/CESR***

- Amendment to target:  
17.27 mobilize additional international financial resources for development from multiple sources **strengthen domestic resource mobilisation through enhanced use of progressive taxation on income and wealth, and international support to improve tax collection, tax and natural resource transparency**
- Target to be added:  
Raise sufficient public resources to finance high quality essential services for all

***On behalf of the Psychology Coalition at the UN***

- Amendment to target:  
13.2 build **infrastructural and psychosocial** resilience and adaptive capacity to climate-induced hazards in all vulnerable countries

***On behalf of the Global Alliance on Health and Pollution***

- Amendment to target:  
17.14 increase the capacity for early warning, risk reduction, and management of national and global health risks, **including pollution**

***On behalf of the Asia Pacific Regional Civil Society Engagement Mechanism***

- Amendments to targets: Please refer to [this link](#) for a detailed analysis target by target